Spatial and compound dependencies in drought and heatwaves in the climate of South-Western Europe

Ebenezer Takyi



Thesis submitted for the degree of Master in Applied Computer and Information Technology - ACIT (Data Science) 60 credits

Department of Computer Science Faculty of Technology, Art and Design

Oslo Metropolitan University — OsloMet

Spring 2024

Spatial and compound dependencies in drought and heatwaves in the climate of South-Western Europe

Ebenezer Takyi

© 2024 Ebenezer Takyi

Spatial and compound dependencies in drought and heatwaves in the climate of South-Western Europe

http://www.oslomet.no/

Printed: Oslo Metropolitan University — OsloMet

Abstract

The South-Western Europe (Iberian Peninsula) has been highlighted for the escalating occurrence and severity of droughts and heatwaves during the last decades. However, the statistical interdependencies between these extremes remain largely understudied, which makes effective climate adaptation and mitigation strategies compromised as a result. In this study, ERA5 reanalysis of daily mean temperature and accumulated precipitation data is used to examine the statistical interdependencies that exist between drought conditions and heatwaves in the Iberian Peninsula from 1950 to 2022. Markov chain models are applied to establish the probability of transitions among the four states monthly, event-free, drought, heatwave and compound states. The connection of these extremes between pairs of grid points by the use Hamming distance technique is also explored by analysing the similarities in decades and seasons. The results confirm that there is a rise in extreme events in the Iberian Peninsula, the magnitude is increasing and the connections of occurrences of extreme events between grid points are gradually becoming weaker which shows that the statistical similarities are changing significantly in time.

Acknowledgements

This research work has received support from the AIClimate@EU project (EEA Bilateral Initiative 2014-2021, Portugal-Norway) and Nordic Center for Sustainable and Trustworthy AI Research (Oslo Metropolitan University, Norway). A.R. also acknowledges funding from the Portuguese Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia (FCT) I.P./MCTES through national funds (PIDDAC) – Instituto Dom Luiz (https://doi.org/10.54499/UIDP/5-0019/2020 and https://doi.org/10.54499/LA/P/0068/2020), and projects DHEFEUS (https://doi.org/10.54499/2022.09185.PTDC). A.R. was supported by FCT under the grant agreement https://doi.org/10.54499/2022.01167.CEECIND/CP1722/CT0006.

Contents

Abstract i									
A	cknov	wledgements	iii						
1	Intr	Introduction							
	1.1	Problem statement	3						
	1.2	Objectives	4						
	1.3	Research questions	5						
	1.4	Significance of the thesis	5						
	1.5	Organization of the thesis	6						
2	Bacl	kground and state of the art	7						
	2.1	What are Extreme Events?	7						
		2.1.1 Heatwaves	9						
		2.1.2 Drought	11						
		2.1.3 Compound Events	13						
	2.2	Concepts from statistical learning	14						
		2.2.1 Markov chain analysis	14						
	2.3	Hamming Distance	15						
	2.4	State of the art	16						
	2.5	Conclusion	22						
3	Data and Methodology 23								
	3.1	Data	23						
		3.1.1 Data Download	23						
		3.1.2 Data Preprocessing	24						
		3.1.3 Nature of Data	24						
	3.2	Heatwaves	24						
	3.3	Drought	27						
		3.3.1 SPI/SPEI time scales	28						
		3.3.2 Drought Classifications	29						
	3.4	Markov Chain	30						
		3.4.1 Application of Markov Chains to Analyze Climate State Transitions	30						

4	Res	sults	31		
	4.1	Descriptive Statistics	32		
	4.2	SPI/SPEI Climatology	37		
4.3 Monthly states of random grid points					
4.4 Markov chains of extreme climate events					
		4.4.1 Markov Chain transitional probabilities	42		
4.4.2 Spatial correlation of Markov states					
	4.5 Hamming distance to assess spatial conditions of extreme				
		events	47		
5 Conclusion		clusion	57		
	5.1	Introduction	57		
	5.2	Summary of Findings	57		
	5.3	Implications of the Research	58		
	5.4	Recommendations	58		
	5.5	Limitations of the thesis	59		
	5.6	Future Work	59		

List of Figures

1.1	Change in global surface temperature as results of human and natural influence [7]	2
3.1	Temperature Trend with Heatwave Indicator using 31-day moving window (1950 to 2022)	27 27
5.2		21
4.1 4.2	Scatter Plot of Average Temperature vs Total Precipitation . Scatter Plot of Average Temperature vs Total Precipitation	34
	for a single grid point	35
4.3	Yearly Average Temperature Over Time, $\Delta T = 1.673$	36
4.4	Daily Total Precipitation Over Time	37
4.5	Temperature Climatology of the Iberian Peninsula	37
4.6	Seasonal Temperature Climatology of the Iberian Peninsula	38
4.7	Precipitation Climatology of the Iberian Peninsula	38
4.8	Standardized Precipitation Index (SPI-3,6,12) of a Selected	
	grid point in the Iberian Peninsula Over Time using	39
4.9	Standardized Precipitation-Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI-	
	3,6,12) Over Time using	39
4.10	Monthly State values over years Heatwaves and Drought	
	(SPI-12) 1951 - 1979 latitude: 37.0 longitude: -6.0	40
4.11	Monthly State values over years Heatwaves and Drought	
	(SPI-12) 1975 - 1999 latitude: 37.0 longitude: -6.0	41
4.12	Monthly State values over years Heatwaves and Drought	
	(SPI-12) 2001 - 2022 latitude: 37.0 longitude: -6.0	41
4.13	Markov chain demonstrating probability of changing to	
	another state Heatwaves and SPI-12	43
4.14	Markov chain demonstrating probability of changing to	
	another state Heatwaves and SPI-6	43
4.15	Heatmaps of State Transitions.	46
4.16	Inverse of Hamming distance between pairs of grid-points	
	grouped by years	47
4.17	Inverse of Hamming distance between pairs of grid-points	
	from 1951-2022	48
4.18	Inverse of Hamming distance between pairs of grid-points	
	of Different Decades	50
4.19	Inverse of Hamming distance between pairs of grid-points	
	Different Seasons	51

List of Tables

2.1	Key research papers considered in state of the art		
3.1	Drought Classifications		
4.1	Statistical Summary of Daily Average Temperature and Accumulated Precipitation	32	
4.2	Statistical Summary of Average Daily Temperature and Accumulated Precipitation Latitude:40.0 Longitude:2.0	32	

Chapter 1

Introduction

The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) sixth assessment report defines "Climate change" as "the state of the climate that can be identified by changes in the mean and/or the variability of its properties and that persists for an extended period, typically like decades or longer" [1]. Long-term alterations in the Earth's average temperature, precipitation patterns, weather events caused by human activities such as burning fossil fuels, deforestation, industrial processes, greenhouse gas emission, and some natural factors such as volcanic eruption and changes in solar radiation [2, 3] are the main causes of the climate change (Figure 1.1). However, the effect of natural factors on climate change is relatively minimal compared to human activities [4]. Although climate change is expected to have a global impact, cities should be prioritized for assessment because of their high population density, abundance of resources, and economic activity, which makes them more vulnerable to the effects of climate change [5]. According to Giannakis and Bruggeman [6], over 75% of people in the European Union live in urban areas, and by 2050, this percentage is expected to rise to 82%.

Unprecedented heatwaves have occurred in recent years all over the world [8]. Examples include the heatwave in Western Europe in 2003, which claimed over 70,000 lives [9], and the heatwave in Eastern Europe and Russia in 2010 that is estimated to have killed 55,000 people [10]. Amid simultaneous heatwaves and droughts in the summer of 2017, the Mediterranean region had the 'Lucifer' heatwave in late July and early August, while Portugal saw devastating wildfires in June that claimed 65 lives [11, 12]. According to earlier estimates conducted in Europe, heatwave frequency is predicted to increase, especially in southern Europe [13]. The study by Molina et al. [14] uses the EURO-CORDEX RCP8.5 model ensemble and finds strong and significant increases in heatwaves across a range of definitions, from nine to forty-five times. With estimates ranging from 2 days to 27–67 days, Sánchez-Benítez et al. [15] calculated significant changes in the number of heatwave days, especially in Iberia and the Mediterranean region. Sánchez-Benítez et al. [15] also observed a notable increase in the intensity of heatwaves, particularly in southcentral Europe. Heatwaves impact vegetation, air quality, and human



Figure 1.1: Change in global surface temperature as results of human and natural influence [7].

health, among other aspects of society and the environment. For example, the 2003 heatwave in Europe caused high levels of ozone to build up and serious health problems that killed almost 15,000 more people in France alone [9]. Heatwaves can have a variety of repercussions, such as higher evapotranspiration rates, lower agricultural yields, higher energy consumption, lower power plant efficiency, air pollution, and negative health effects[16]. Heatwaves have also been connected to wildfires becoming longer, bigger, and more intense, which has had disastrous effects on the ecosystem and caused significant financial losses [17]. The European heatwave, which was aggravated by concurrent drought conditions, was named by the United Nations Environment Programme in 2003 as the most expensive weather-related disaster globally [9].

Droughts also have major negative effects on the environment and civilization, such as sharp declines in gross primary productivity, which result in shortages of food and higher food prices worldwide [18]. Droughts are thought to cost \$7 billion in economic harm each year worldwide, with possible effects on livestock, river transportation, hydropower generation, bioenergy, and energy consumption [19]. The type of drought being considered (e.g., meteorological, agricultural, hydrological) and the selected drought index are important factors to consider when evaluating changes in drought patterns [20]. However, as Ojeda et al. [21] point out, estimates point to longer and more frequent droughts in central Europe and the Mediterranean region, as well as in the Iberian Peninsula. According to Jaagus et al. [18], there will likely be substantial changes in river discharge in the future, with rises expected in northern Europe and declines in southern Europe. Drought pattern changes are dependent on the observational methods, and changes in precipitation extremes show heterogeneity over space [22].

The effects on the environment and society are exacerbated when extreme weather events happen together [23]. Environmental risks often result from the interaction of multiple climate events occurring at different time and space scales [24]. For example, a day that is windy, hot, and dry may result in a wildfire, even if these factors by themselves might not be deemed extreme. A compound event is defined as the conjunction of numerous climate extremes, according to Avila-Diaz et al. [25, 26] study on managing the risks of extreme events and disasters. Additionally, there appears to be a tendency for winter to last shorter and summer to last longer. According to forecasts from climate models, as long as anthropogenic emissions keep piling up, further warming is expected [27].

Considering the expected ongoing climatic changes, static definitions of seasons (such as astronomical and meteorological) are insufficient for adequately determining seasonal timing and duration [28]. The study emphasizes how metropolitan areas are becoming more and more susceptible to extreme weather events, especially heatwaves and droughts, because of the negative effects they have on both the environment and civilization. The huge financial losses and detrimental health effects linked to these events highlight how urgent it is to comprehend their statistical connections and how they vary over time [29]. Furthermore, the impact of seasons on climatic systems emphasizes how important it is to evaluate trends in seasonal transition dates, especially in areas that are vital to agricultural productivity [30]. To tackle these concerns, the study analyze the statistical dependencies between droughts and heatwaves in climate systems in Iberian Peninsula.

1.1 Problem statement

The study emphasizes how important it is to have a thorough understanding of the statistical correlations and temporal dynamics between heatwaves and droughts throughout time. A complete understanding of the long-term interactions between heatwaves and droughts is lacking, even though much prior research has concentrated on specific extreme weather occurrences [31-34]. The study bridges a knowledge gap on long-term climate variability and its consequences for future climate projections by examining the temporal dynamics and shifts in the statistical relationship between these occurrences. Although the impact of seasons on climate variability is widely acknowledged [35, 36], a more thorough examination of how seasons impact the frequency and severity of extreme weather events, such as heatwaves and droughts, is still necessary. The study fills this knowledge gap and sheds light on the seasonal drivers of extreme weather occurrences by looking at the seasonal patterns in the study region. Assessing climate risk and developing adaptation plans require an understanding of the probability of changing climatic states, including those with and without extreme events [37].

The probabilistic character of transitions has often been overlooked in favor of deterministic correlations between climate variables in earlier research [5]. The study fills this research gap by using Markov Chain analysis, which offers a probabilistic framework for examining climatic shifts [38]. The regional distribution of climate events is not uniform, and a deeper comprehension of the spatial link between extreme weather occurrences across regions is necessary [39]. The study fills this knowledge gap by examining the spatial clustering of heatwaves and droughts in the study region and offering insights into the underlying mechanisms governing spatial patterns of climatic variability. Assessing the efficacy of climate models and determining how transferable adaption techniques are required comparing the similarity of extreme climate occurrences across different places. The regional and temporal variations in similarity patterns have been overlooked by previous studies, which frequently relied on simplistic criteria to compare the similarities of climate events [40]. The study fills this gap by employing the Hamming distance metric, which offers a more sophisticated method of evaluating similarities between climate events.

The frequency, severity, and geographical distribution of extreme weather events are changing due to climate change; however, it is yet unclear how exactly these changes will affect heatwaves and droughts [41]. However, the research addresses this knowledge gap by analyzing historical data to identify statistical dependencies between heatwaves and droughts. By understanding these relationships, the study offers insightful projections about future occurrences of these events. This information is crucial for stakeholders and policymakers who are developing strategies to address and mitigate the impacts of these phenomena in the study region. The intricate relationships between heatwaves, droughts, and other climatic variables in the Iberian Peninsula can be better understood by looking into these issue statements. Additionally, they emphasize how crucial it is to take temporal and spatial aspects into account to comprehend climate dynamics and guide the formulation of climate-related policies and decision-making procedures [40].

1.2 Objectives

The main goal of this study is to analyze the statistical dependencies between droughts and heatwaves in the Iberian Peninsula. To achieve this, the study has laid out these objectives:

- 1. **Identify the Nature of the Statistical Relationship:** This objective focuses on discerning the types of statistical relationships that exist between droughts and heatwaves within the region, and how these relationships have evolved.
- 2. Seasonal Influence on the Climate System: Here, the aim is to determine how different seasons affect the climate dynamics of the region, particularly the occurrence of droughts and heatwaves.
- 3. **Probabilities of Extreme Event Transitions:** This involves calculating the likelihood of transitions between various climatic condi-

tions—ranging from normal to extreme events. The study seeks to understand the conditions under which such transitions occur.

1.3 Research questions

This study proposes to answer to three important research questions, which are:

- 1. What is the nature of the statistical relationship between droughts and heatwaves in the Iberian Peninsula, and how has this relationship changed over time?
- 2. How do different seasons influence the climate system in the Iberian Peninsula, particularly in terms of affecting the likelihood and severity of droughts and heatwaves?
- 3. What are the probabilities or likelihood of transitioning from one climatic condition to another, for example; from normal conditions to extreme events or vice versa?

1.4 Significance of the thesis

This thesis adds to our understanding of the intricate relationships between heatwaves and droughts in climate systems [42]. Through the identification of the statistical relationship between heatwaves and droughts and their temporal variations, the study contributes to our understanding of the fundamental dynamics of climate systems and it is essential for forecasting future patterns in climate change and creating workable plans for both adaptation and mitigation [43].

Having a better understanding of the statistical relationships between these occurrences helps stakeholders better target initiatives and distribute resources, strengthening society's ability to withstand the effects of climate change [23]. For instance, if the findings indicate that a severe drought is ongoing, stakeholders can preemptively allocate resources like water supplies and cooling centres in anticipation of a subsequent heatwave. This proactive approach allows for more effective distribution of aid, reducing the strain on emergency services and infrastructure during peak times. By using sophisticated statistical and computational methods to evaluate climate data, the study advances scientific understanding of the subject of climatology. The study's approaches and conclusions can be used as a foundation for additional investigation into climatic variability and extreme occurrences in different places through modelling and research. Research on the statistical relationships between heatwaves and droughts in climate systems is important because it helps us understand climate dynamics, guides the development of risk management plans, directs the creation of policies, and advances our understanding of climatology. Considering continuing climate change, its conclusions have applications for strengthening climate resilience and adaptation initiatives [5].

1.5 Organization of the thesis

The thesis is organized into five sessions. Chapter one presents the background, problem statement, aim, objectives, research questions and significance. Chapter two presents the literature review on the statistical dependencies between droughts and heatwaves in climate systems at the Iberian Peninsula. Chapter three presents the study methodology on how the study was conducted and analysed. Session four presents the analysis and results of the study. Chapter five presents the conclusion, recommendations, and future works.

Chapter 2

Background and state of the art

This chapter provides a comprehensive background of the current literature focusing on droughts and heatwaves and their interplay in climate systems. The state of the art section aims to identify the current state of knowledge on the relationship between these extreme weather events and to highlight areas for further research.

The chapter begins by providing a detailed definition of compound events, Hot-dry extremes, droughts and heatwaves and drivers of extreme events. Some concepts from statistical learning will be highlighted, and finally, the current state of the related studies will be pinpointed and how they would be applied to the study. It then explores the historical background of research in this area, starting from early studies that focused on individual extreme events to recent research that has shifted towards examining the statistical dependencies between these events.

Additionally, different statistical methods used to study the relationship between droughts and heatwaves and the various associated drivers, including classification and regression analyses, will be presented.

2.1 What are Extreme Events?

Severe weather conditions including heatwaves, droughts, and floods cause fatalities as well as substantial property damage and financial losses [41]. According to projections, over this century, there will likely be an increase in the frequency, duration, and intensity of these extremes across several European regions, impacting previously vulnerable areas such as the Mediterranean and new ones in mid-latitudes [44]. Comprehending the existing conditions and anticipated shifts in these extremes is essential for gaining scientific understanding as well as assisting society in devising adaptation and mitigation strategies [45]. As a result, a quick and easy-to-use tool is required to determine extreme occurrences, susceptible areas, and crucial seasons [41]. For this reason, several extreme indices have been created, such as the Palmer Drought Index (PDI) and Effective Drought Index (EDI) for droughts, the Universal Thermal Climate Index (UTCI) for heatwaves, and the Standardized Precipitation Index (SPI) for droughts [46]. These indexes are used to create extreme event catalogues, like the

ones the European Drought Observatory publishes [47], and to identify and characterize extreme events. It is crucial to remember that these indices differ greatly in terms of their timeframes, thresholds, approaches, and intended uses. As a result, there are differences in what the various indexes consider to be extraordinary [48].

Extreme heat events have increased noticeably in recent years, and some of these events have had major effects on economies, society, and agriculture [48]. These extreme circumstances may result from the interaction of several drives and processes, or they may develop from a single underlying reason [49]. Furthermore, it is commonly known that forcing by greenhouse gases (GHGs) influences not only the mean climate state but also the variability of the climate, the likelihood and severity of weather extremes, and the climate [50]. Gaining a greater knowledge of these contributing factors specifically, the underlying physical mechanisms in the current climate context—is crucial to improve forecasting accuracy and revise future estimates [49]. Since preindustrial times, there has been a shift in the probability of severe occurrences due to changes in land use and land-cover, as well as climate change, which is mostly caused by anthropogenic greenhouse gas emissions [51]. Although it is difficult to link a particular event to climate change alone, it is possible to assess and measure the impact of different causes on shifts in the probability of an event or a certain class of events [52]. A probabilistic attribution approach was used in early studies of extreme occurrences to evaluate the change in likelihood ascribed to greenhouse gas (GHG) forcing [53]. Using this strategy, one can compare the probability of an event under hypothetical conditions (also known as "counterfactual") with that under actual conditions (also known as "factual") [54].

On the other hand, a complementary but more modern method uses "storylines" to calculate how much anthropogenic forcing contributed to a certain occurrence [55]. This method provides a more thorough knowledge of the reasons of the event by identifying a series of circumstances that led up to it and evaluating the significance of each [56]. Taking a more mechanical approach, this framework can also be expanded to consider the attribution of extreme events to different atmospheric, oceanic, and land variables. Sea surface temperature (SST) anomalies have an impact on local and worldwide weather and climate patterns, indicating that the ocean is a major contributor to climate variability [57]. Through changes in atmospheric circulation known as teleconnections, these anomalies, which are frequently linked to climate events like the El Niño Southern Oscillation (ENSO), can affect global patterns of temperature and precipitation [58]. It has been suggested that specific sea surface temperature (SST) trends in northern Eurasia increase the likelihood of heatwaves via changing air circulation [59]. SSTs can have varying effects on various occurrences, though; in the case of the Russian heatwave in 2010, for instance, their significance was less clear [10]. Anomalies in the atmospheric circulation are often linked to heatwaves. Hot extremes frequently occur in conjunction with extended high-pressure systems in the northern midlatitudes [57] and also in southeast Australia [60]. Although oceanic

circumstances can have an impact on these high-pressure systems, internal variations in air circulation can also give rise to them [61, 62].

In a changing climate, feedback from land surface conditions, especially soil moisture availability, can greatly increase the intensity and length of heatwaves [63]. Because of soil moisture memory and interactions with the atmospheric boundary layer, reduced soil moisture can decrease evaporative cooling and prolong heatwave episodes [64]. Because of the close connection between the land and the atmosphere in these locations, severe heatwaves and droughts frequently occur together, particularly in places with transitional climates [65].

2.1.1 Heatwaves

A heatwave is defined as a string of consecutively hot days that the temperature exceeds a particular threshold [9]. Heatwaves can have a substantial impact on several factors, such as energy consumption, the environment, water resources, agricultural production, and human health [10]. Prominent heatwaves, such those that occurred in Europe in 2003 and Russia in 2010, claimed a significant number of lives-over 56,000 and 70,000, respectively [9, 10]. An additional two days during heatwaves was found to dramatically enhance the chance of mass heat-related mortality events by 78% between 1978 and 2006, according to research conducted in India [66]. High temperatures have the potential to desiccate soil, which puts plants under more stress and increases the need for watering. Heatwaves increase demand and decrease efficiency, which puts additional strain on the electrical infrastructure [13]. Because urban structures both absorb and reemit solar radiation, they increase energy consumption and greenhouse gas emissions, which worsens the consequences of heatwaves [14]. For example, France had a sharp decline in electricity exports during the 2003 European heatwave because of the tremendous demand on its internal energy infrastructure [67]. Scientists predict that water and energy consumption will rise in tandem with global temperature increases and the growth of urban regions [15]. Still, there is a lack of knowledge on the specific effects of rising temperatures on consumption rates and the anticipated rise in peak energy demand. By the end of the century, projections show that peak energy consumption in the US might increase by 7.2% (under the moderate emission scenario known as Representative Concentration Pathway (RCP) 4.5) to 18% (in the high emission scenario known as RCP 8.5) [66]. RCPs outline different future possibilities for land use and emissions [68]. Urbanization is predicted to be a major factor in this regard since it increases local temperature extremes through the urban heat island effect. To fully understand the anticipated interaction between socioeconomic elements and local climate extremes, more research is required [17]. Heatwaves have become more frequent, prolonged, and intense on a global scale [69]. Records for temperature set in the 1930s have been exceeded by recent heatwaves, like those that occurred in Texas and the midwestern United States in 2011 and 2012 [70]. The Iberian Peninsula (IP) experienced an excess mortality rate of 3.5% in Portugal

and 8% in Spain due to the August 2003 heatwave [71–73] and in June 2007 [15]. Record-breaking temperatures have also been experienced in California, aggravating the drought, and raising the possibility of wildfires [74]. Records for hot temperatures are being broken more quickly than records for low temperatures.

Furthermore, the minimum daily temperature is rising faster than the highest temperature [23]. This means that the body will be less able to disperse heat during heatwaves and will be less able to cool down at night, which will increase the risk of heat-related illnesses and deaths [75]. Projections suggest that throughout the course of the next century, heatwaves will continue to increase [15]. Even though there are international attempts to keep global warming to 1.5 or 2°C by 2100, regional variations are anticipated in local temperature extremes [13]. By the end of the century, maximum temperatures are expected to rise by at least 3°C in several regions, including the Northern Hemisphere, Central America, and South Africa [76, 77]. In the Arctic, for example, annual minimum temperatures are predicted to rise by 5.5°C over preindustrial According to climate projections, there might be more than levels. thirty additional heatwave days in the tropics and roughly ten to fifteen more days in the mid to high latitudes, which includes parts of North America, Europe, and Russia, for every degree Celsius that temperatures rise [9, 10]. The variety of physical circumstances from year to year and feedback loops between soil moisture and temperature are the factors driving the intensification of intense heatwaves brought on by rising global temperatures [14]. Since there is still a great deal of uncertainty regarding the length and intensity of local extreme heat episodes as a result of global warming, more research is necessary.

Many heatwave research ignore the connections between different heatwave characteristics like intensity and duration in favor of concentrating on single indicators [64]. It is essential to look at these traits at the same time because they are interconnected. Furthermore, elements such as humidity, airflow, and sun radiation can intensify the effects of heatwaves, resulting in heat stress and associated health hazards, especially for vulnerable groups [23]. It is still difficult to comprehend the cumulative consequences of extended exposure to extremely high temperatures and heat stress on human health [24]. Research on heatwave detection and attribution has connected human factors and global warming to the strongest heatwaves and their rising frequency in recent years [31]. In fact, in certain areas, emissions caused by humans have increased the likelihood of the worstcase scenarios by up to ten times [34]. There are not many studies that concentrate on attribution, which emphasizes the need for more research to determine how much human activity affects instances of extreme heat as well as how human-induced warming affects different elements of heatwaves, such as their length and intensity [9, 13, 15]. Warming temperatures brought on by climate change frequently set off a domino effect that makes other extreme events, such as wildfires or droughts, worse [66]. For example, there is a reciprocal relationship between heatwaves and droughts: heatwaves intensify drought conditions, and severe droughts raise the risk

of even more violent heatwaves [34, 78, 79].

2.1.2 Drought

One of the problems identified by many when studying droughts is the definition of drought itself. It is difficult to define drought since different drought indices measure different aspects of water constraint [11] and different definitions have been used by different studies. The IPCC report 2022 [80] defines drought as "An exceptional period of water shortage for existing ecosystems and the human population (due to low rainfall, high temperature and/or wind". Another study also described drought as prolonged periods of abnormally dry weather conditions, reducing water availability for human activities and natural ecosystems [81].

Recent studies have concentrated on identifying and understanding drought patterns in a rising climate as knowledge of anthropogenic climate change develops [20, 22]. Research has shown changes in localized patterns of precipitation and snow cover, and forecasts point to a worldwide reallocation of precipitation that may have a substantial effect on areas that are vulnerable to variations in soil moisture [21]. The influence of land surface moisture on local drought occurrences may change due to shifts in transitional zones brought about by changes in global climate patterns [18]. To understand how localized feedback mechanisms and systems may respond to changes in surface moisture, regional investigations will be essential. There is a lack of understanding regarding changes in drought occurrences despite efforts to resolve inconsistencies in research caused by variations in observational data and approaches accounting for natural climatic events (such as the El Niño–Southern Oscillatio) [58]. For instance, Naumann et al. [19] found that the area of the world impacted by droughts grew by 8% between the 1980s and the 2000s, although Gaitán et al. [82] found no evidence of a recent global trend in the frequency of droughts. This discrepancy highlights how crucial it is to improve the consistency between observational data and drought indices so that different studies can get to comparable findings [83]. Furthermore, to handle different features of dry situations, like snow droughts or deficits in snow water equivalent (SWE), additional drought characterizations must be created [23]. Because of the observed and anticipated decreases in snowpack, snow droughts have become more significant, especially in areas like the western United States [84]. Margulis et al. [85], for example, found that between 1985 and 2016 in the Sierra Nevada in the United States, historical winter warming of 1 to 2°C increased the risk of below-average April 1 SWE quantities from 20% to 40%, respectively [86]. It is important to keep a watchful eye out for drought conditions in areas that are vulnerable to temperature changes and likely to experience snow droughts [87]. To better prepare for a warmer future climate, it is therefore essential to build global frameworks and indicators for monitoring and describing snow droughts [88].

In terms of future projections, Cook et al. [89] projected that by the end of the twenty-first century, compared to the twentieth, soil moisture drought events will become more frequent and severe, covering roughly twice the land area under moderate (based on simulations with CO2 concentrations peaking at 720 ppm) and high emissions scenarios (peaking at 850 ppm) emissions [90]. Global aridity, or the difference between precipitation and potential evapotranspiration, is expected to increase by 3.4% for every degree Celsius that land temperatures rise [91]. This would result in less water being available in drier locations [92]. Global drylands are predicted to expand by 10-23% between 1961-1990 and 2071-2100 because of the advent of a warmer climate, making up 50-56% of the planet's land surface [93]. According to Tigkas et al. [94], there will be a significant increase in the number of communities suffering from extended water stress due to this spread of aridity and drylands. The predicted increase in aridity and the spread of areas vulnerable to drought will probably increase the frequency of dust storms [95]. These dust storms can cause health problems and change the hydrology of neighboring and distant areas. As per Strzepek et al. [96], the existence of dust on snow or ice can have an impact on the time and pace of melting processes, as well as the interactions between the ground and atmosphere. Feedback interactions between the land surface, atmosphere, and biosphere impact the predicted increase in global aridity and the growth of dryland areas. Dubrovsky et al. [97] separated the effects of long-term soil moisture trends on temperature, relative humidity, and precipitation in a changing climate, highlighting the relevance of land-atmosphere interactions in causing the expected doubling in aridity. Furthermore, it is anticipated that the spread of drylands and the frequency of droughts would reduce soil and vegetation's ability to absorb carbon, raising atmospheric CO2 levels and accelerating the processes of desertification [98]. Large-scale deforestation, especially in tropical areas, may also influence the frequency and intensity of droughts [99]. Nevertheless the above mentioned, it is still unclear how precisely global warming and natural variability affect the frequency of droughts [29], particularly on a regional basis. Therefore, studies targeted at improving our understanding of droughts and natural variability would improve our understanding of past and future patterns of drought [30]. Additionally, research must be deepened to understand how human endeavours like farming, deforestation, and increased water use affect the frequency and intensity of drought occurrences [32]. Tripathy and Mishra [100] emphasized the dearth of research on the effects of human activity on water stress and the importance of comprehending how human activity affects water availability. Like this, Akhtar et al. [47] stressed how important it is to consider how humans both contribute to and mitigate drought circumstances. Understanding the proportional effects of natural variability, climate change, and human activity on drought occurrences is crucial to improving regional and global drought management techniques [101].

2.1.3 Compound Events

Compound events are the combinations of two or more events involving physical processes that occur simultaneously or in close succession resulting in great impacts that would be expected from individual events occurrences [102, 103]. These combined effects have gained significant interest because, when multiple natural disasters occur in succession, the effects are often more devastating [41].

Compound drought and heatwaves (CDHWs) pose a serious threat to socioecological systems and have often more detrimental effects than isolated events [104]. Socioeconomic crises, wildfires, agricultural losses, and an increase in heat-related mortality are some of these effects [105]. Globally, CDHWs have been more common in recent years, impacting areas like Europe, the US, South America, Australia, and Asia [106]. Due to changes in land and vegetation cover, increased sensible heat flux, and other factors, linked variations in temperature and precipitation are frequently the result of droughts and heatwaves being interconnected [107]. Although natural variability contributes to the occurrence of CDHW, human-induced warming has made these occurrences more intense, resulting in more widespread and long-lasting heatwaves and droughts [108]. Due to their substantial effects on socioecological systems, such as crop production losses, heat-related mortality, and wildfires, CDHW occurrences have drawn a lot of attention [100]. Several places in the world, including portions of China, Western Russia, the USA, Australia, and Europe, have recently experienced heatwaves and compound droughts during summer months [109].

Summers 2003, 2010, 2015, 2017 and 2018 in Europe and western Russia, 2012–2014 in the USA, 2013 in Australia, and 2006, 2009–2010, and 2014 in southwestern and northern China were all recorded for these events [9, 10, 109]. Numerous land surface processes contribute to the formation of droughts and heatwaves, resulting in varied spatial patterns because of regional differences in precipitation, anomalies in temperature, and hydrological changes [34]. These land surface processes are also shaped by variables like human activity, background aridity, and large-scale climate trends.

Awareness, adaptations, and resilience are essential for coping with such compound events [110]. Early warning models, systems, and effective communication strategies can be very useful in creating more awareness and avoiding potential disasters and discomfort. People's awareness, education, and knowledge can be important factors in reducing the impacts of compound events.

According to Zscheischler et al. [111] in analysing compound events, there is no single method dedicated to analyzing compound events because the type of analysis and approach will depend on the specific situation and the nature of the compound event. However, depending on the goal, there may be a need for a combination of many methods/approaches. In the above paper, some methods/approaches that can be used to analyse compound events are: regression, multivariate probability distribution, correlation coefficient, copula-based approaches, poison process, external coefficient and the semivariogram, and others were discussed as a possible way to analyse compound events.

2.2 Concepts from statistical learning

It becomes more difficult for algorithms to find solutions to problems as the problems they are trying to solve become more complex. In this research, we shall use one aspect of Artificial Intelligence (AI) known as Machine Learning (ML) to explore knowledge about the statistical dependencies between drought and heatwaves in the Iberian Peninsula sub-region.

Artificial Intelligence is the way of developing computer systems to perform simple to complex problems that require high human intelligence to solve, such as pattern recognition, decision-making, and problemsolving [112, 113]. AI systems can be programmed to identify patterns in data and learn from experience and subsequently improve performance with time. AI has so many systems and techniques, including Machine Learning (ML), Computer Vision (CV), and robotics.

Machine Learning (ML) has solved many complex problems across various industries, including healthcare, finance, and transportation [114]. Some of the critical problems that ML has addressed include image and speech recognition, natural language processing, fraud detection, and recommendation systems, to name a few. Machines can now mimic human cognitive functions thanks to the development of the concept of learning and the ability to solve complex problems [115]. ML has contributed much to the studies related to the Earth's Climate. Building more accurate and efficient models by researchers [116]. Weather forecasting using satellites sensor and weather stations data sources [117]. Prediction of natural disasters such as hurricanes, floods, and wildfires by analyzing data from sources.

2.2.1 Markov chain analysis

After the states have been determined, the following step is to develop a transition matrix to describe the probability of changing from one state to another within a certain amount of time. Utilizing the sequence of state changes that were observed in the dataset from 1950 to 2022, this matrix is constructed through the process of analysis. It is possible to calculate transition probabilities based on the relative frequency of each transition by recording the transition from the starting state to the succeeding state for each pair of successive observations. This allows for the computation of transition probabilities.

These assumptions are established to guarantee that the analysis is conducted by the principles of a Markov Chain [118]:

The property of Markov: There is a presumption that the future state is solely dependent on the current state, and not on the sequence of events that came before it. Time Homogeneity: The transition probabilities are considered constant throughout the analysis. While this simplifies the model, it is acknowledged that climate dynamics may introduce time-dependent variations.

A directed graph is used to show the transition probabilities. The nodes of the graph represent the states, while the edges of the graph reflect the transitions. To provide a graphical depiction of the Markov Chain, each edge is given a weight that is determined by the chance of migrating from one specific state to another. By showing the most likely routes and potential stable states or cycles within the system, this representation contributes to a better understanding of the dynamics of climatic state changes. To illustrate short-term dynamics, the graphs are constructed for six months, with each subplot representing the transitions that occur during a single full month. The ability to observe seasonal trends and the influence of temporal granularity on transition probabilities is made possible by this temporal resolution.

Through the use of Markov Chain analysis on climate data, this approach provides a mathematical framework that may be utilised to comprehend and forecast changes in climatic conditions. This method offers insights into the chance of several different climatic states occurring, which enables improved preparedness and response plans for threats associated with climate change.

By tracking simultaneously the derived series of binary states for both heatwaves and droughts, we then calculate the frequency of all possible transitions between the four possible states, $(S_H, S_D) = \{(0,0); (0,1); (1,0); (1,1)\}$. These frequencies are mapped into conditional probabilities.

$$P((S_H(t+\Delta t), S_D(t+\Delta t))|(S_D(t), S_D(t))) = \frac{P((S_H(t+1), S_D(t+1)); (S_H(t), S_H(t)))}{P((S_H(t), S_D(t)))}$$
(1)

where Δt is the time within which the transition occurs. Here we consider $\Delta t = 1, 2, 3, 4, 5$, and 6 months.

2.3 Hamming Distance

The analysis starts with defining states from heatwave and drought conditions as depicted by SPI-12, employing binary states for computation. The '00' state signifies a normal day without heatwaves or droughts; '10' indicates the presence of a heatwave; '01' represents a drought, and '11' denotes a compound state of both heatwaves and droughts.

Data transformation is a critical step, where the binary states '00', '01', '11', and '10' are mapped into '0' and '1' states for simplification. "00" is mapped to '0', indicating the absence of heatwave or drought, and any other value is mapped to '1', signifying the presence of these conditions. This mapping is applied across all grid points in the 'State_hamming' column.

To facilitate focused comparison and incorporate spatial context in the analysis, the dataset is grouped by unique pairs of latitude and longitude. This spatial grouping is essential for comparing binary sequences across different geographic locations.

The generation of unique pairs of grid points is achieved through Python's 'itertools' combination function, ensuring a comprehensive pairwise comparison across all grid points.

For the computation of Hamming distance, it is essential to ensure that the sequences being compared are of equal length, truncating them if necessary. The Hamming distance, calculated using the 'hamming' function from the 'scipy.spatial.distance' module, indicates the proportion of differing bits between sequences. This proportion is converted to an absolute count of differing bits, providing a quantitative measure of sequence dissimilarity. The computed distances and their counts are collected for subsequent analysis.

We take into consideration the Hamming distance[119] between the heatwave series of binary states and the drought series of binary states. The Hamming distance is defined for each pair of locations, l_1 and l_2 , and it is given by:

$$H_{total}(l_1, l_2) = \sqrt{H_d^2(l_1, l_2) + H_h^2(l_1, l_2)}$$
(2)

where
$$H_d(S_1^{(d)}, S_2^{(d)}) = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N |S_1^{(d)}(i) - S_2^{(d)}(i)|$$
 (3)

and
$$H_h(S_1^{(h)}, S_2^{(h)}) = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N |S_1^{(h)}(i) - S_2^{(h)}(i)|$$
 (4)

with $S_2^{(d)}(i)$ and $S_2^{(h)}(i)$ the binary state (0 or 1) with respect to heatwave ("h") or drought ("d") at location l1 in day i, and similarly for location l2. To put it another way, the Hamming distance is a quantitative measure of sequence dissimilarity that is derived from the proportion of bits that are different between sequences.

In summary, the concepts from statistical learning, including ML, Markov chain models, and Hamming distance approaches, provide valuable tools for analyzing and understanding the complex relationships between climatic events. These methods not only enhance our understanding of climate impacts on agriculture, ecosystem vulnerability, and resource management but also facilitate the development of adaptation and mitigation strategies. By enabling precise comparisons and identifications of climate patterns, these statistical tools serve as valuable assets in the study of climate adaptation and mitigation strategies.

2.4 State of the art

A study relies on the examination of the relationship between precipitation and temperature, proposing a new method based on dynamical systems theory to measure the persistence and co-occurrence of these events [120]. They analysed data from the European Centre for Medium-Range Weather Forecasts (ECMWF) ERA5 reanalysis dataset from 1979 to 2018 for the Mediterranean region. The authors found that specific regions and processes influence the relationship between temperature and precipitation, not always reflecting the entire region. Additionally, the study found that the relationship is sensitive to non-extreme events and can be used to understand potential future seasonal climate changes in the Mediterranean region. The authors also identified specific factors that drive changes in this relationship, such as surface warming.

In another study, Geirinhas et al. use ERA5 reanalysis data to assess the historical evolution of southeast Brazil's compound summer drought heatwave events between 1980-2018. The studies aimed to thoroughly analyze the surface and weather conditions and the interactions between the land and the atmosphere that cause single and compound dry and heat extremes [104]. Daily and hourly periodic meteorological data were extracted from the European Centre of Medium-range Weather Forecast ERA5 reanalysis dataset and soil moisture data from the Global Land Evaporation Amsterdam Model (GLEAM v3.3a). The authors considered the 80th, 90th, and 95th percentiles, as well as days between 3-4 days, 5-7 days, and 7+ days, for periods of consecutive by applying a 1st-degree polynomial to resolve the linear trend to isolate Tmax values from the global warming effect. A non-parametric Wilcoxon Rank sum test was computed to assess the importance between data pairs to be tested. It was discovered that Southeast Brazil, which is the most populated, has experienced extremely dry and hot conditions. The summers of 2013/14 and 2014/15 demonstrated a clear association between drought and heatwaves. The interrelationship was influenced by two soil atmosphere coupling regimes that predominated at different times in both summer seasons and were characterized by strong evaporative demands, unequal evaporation levels, and soil moisture availability.

Similarly, with ERA5 reanalysis datasets, [121, 122] were used to conduct different studies but [121] added more datasets into the studies (AVHRR satellite data, the European Space Agency's land cover data set, leaf area index data, and the ESA-CCI land cover data set). The study focuses on determining the dangers CHDES poses to vulnerable populations and assets. A topology-based selection of the case study to emphasise six common recommendations for studying compound events. The study concludes that the effects of hot and dry summers on crops could be intensified by the preceding impacts of dry and bright springs. The study guidelines will aid in advancing the study of compound events across multiple fields and industries.

On the other hand, the study examines the different types, common locations, patterns over time, and changes in location of concurrent and cascading extreme events in the drylands of Eurasia [122]. The study used a combination of empirical values and percentile-based indicators to identify the types, locations, and patterns of these extreme events and found that the most common types and locations of concurrent and cascading extreme events are similar. The study found that in high-latitude regions, extreme winter events are dominated by cold-hot events, making up more than 85 out of 100 of extreme winter events in that area, concurrent extreme events have a wider geographic range, and cascading extreme events have a longer duration.

Compound dry and hot extremes going into significant augmentation has been a fact for recent decades; it has been a concern for the escalation of highly unusual anomalies over the southern and northeastern regions of the United States [123]. By using the Mann-Kendal and Moran's I to determine the monotonic trend in relevant variables and the spatial autocorrelation of the composite extreme occurrences, respectively, the Cramanalyzedises test was used to assess the changes in distribution as well. It was known that significant increase in compound dry-hot extremes in the CONUS over the previous 50 years, compound dry-hot extremes are mostly caused by heat surplus, and also vigorous emission reduction can reduce the risks brought on by their rising frequency.

Climate Research Unit (CRU) TS 4.01 global climate data and European Climate Assessment Data (E-OBS version 14) were used by [124] to examine the correlation between the frequency of hot days and nights in the region's warmest months and a drought indicator from prior months. Characterized drought was performed using the Standardized Precipitation Index (SPI) and the Standardized Precipitation Evaporation Index (SPEI) in 3, 6, and 9-month time frames. To assess the extent to which spring and early summer droughts antecede the appearance of extreme heat months in the Mediterranean. Additionally, the evolution of droughts in the Mediterranean was thoroughly characterised. There were clear findings that high (low) NHD/NHN follows negative (positive) SPEI/SPI warnings. The results imply a certain degree of predictability of drought indicators and soil moisture data by pinpointing hotspots that could anticipate a heightened likelihood of extreme events occurring during the summer heat.

ECAD-EOBS v14 daily dataset and CRU TS4.01 database were used to calculate NHD and SPEI, respectively. NHD and SPEI joint probability was calculated by using copula theory. It was shown from the study by [125] shows that there is spatial heterogeneity over the IP when characterizing the influence of water deficits on summer temperature in some regions and also a relation between NHD and previous SPEI increases from May to July. Mukherjee et al. [103] employs a cascade modelling framework to analyze and quantify the complex interactions and cascading effects between dry and hot climate extremes across global hotspots with GLEAM v3.3a, ERA5, and NSIDC datasets, enhancing our understanding and predictive capabilities of these increasingly impactful events.

Other researchers have used machine learning algorithms to investigate the association between drought and heatwaves [126] and to identify global hotspots of drought and heatwaves [127]. Random Forest and Gradient Boosting regression and other machine learning models to predict the probability of concurrent drought and heatwave events and discovered that the occurrence of drought and heatwave events was highly dependent on the geographical location and that machine learning algorithms were effective in predicting these events [126].

Cardoso Pereira et al. [128] utilize high-resolution climate simula-

tions to forecast a significant reduction in annual precipitation and altered precipitation patterns on the Iberian Peninsula, potentially exacerbating drought conditions and impacting water resource management under the RCP8.5 scenario, Barbosa & Scotto analysed ERA5-Land reanalysis compared to station data from European Climate Assessment (ECA&D) data to describe extreme temperature events in the Iberian Peninsula using an extreme value model with normal distribution for the bulk distribution and Generalized Pareto Distribution for the upper tail estimation at each point [129]. However, the researchers ignored the spatial dependencies and also considered short-length time series data. García-Valdecasas Ojeda et al. [21] used the Weather Research and Forecasting (WRF) model driven by two global climate models (GCMs), CCSM4 and MPI-ESM-LR, to simulate future climate scenarios. They analyzed drought characteristics on the Iberian Peninsula using two drought indices-the Standardized Precipitation Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI) and the Standardized Precipitation Index (SPI)—over different time scales and under two Representative Concentration Pathways (RCP4.5 and RCP8.5). This comprehensive approach allowed them to project changes in drought frequency, duration, and severity across various future periods.

The studies utilize various methodologies, such as threshold and indicator methods, Mann-Kendal, Moran's I, and copula theory, Metrics R, Lagrangian Analysis, copula theory, machine learning algorithms and several estimations criteria to investigate various relationships, occurrences, correlations, and interactions among many climate events such as drought, heatwaves, rainfall, and others. There have been several studies, and few are considered above, which investigate various events separately and some combined. The papers also utilize different datasets, including CRU, UDEl, GLEAM, PGF, ERA5 reanalysis, AVHRR satellite data, and land cover data, to examine the occurrence and impacts of concurrent extreme events.

Most of the studies use ERA5 [103, 104, 120–122, 130], CRU [124, 125, 131], and GLEAM datasets in their investigations. All of the studies show how physical processes like weather patterns, precipitation, soil moisture-temperature feedback, and modes of variability can cause multiple extreme events to happen at the same time. It is also important to think about the duration and dynamics of multivariate processes when figuring out what effects they have. Additionally, the studies emphasize the need for further research on concurrent extreme events and their dependencies to improve understanding and preparedness for their impacts.

Although several machine learning methods have been used by many researchers to analyse the climate and proved to be very effective such of the methods that have been applied are Random Forest and Gradient Boosting regression [126], Convolutional Neural Network (CNN) [132], Support Vector Machine (SVM) [133] and others. Other researchers have used other methods, such as probabilistic approaches like the Markov chain models and hamming distance approaches. Markov chain models, extensively used to analyze the dynamics and probabilistic nature of climate events, have been effectively applied in various contexts. Yeh et al. [134] analyzed drought characteristics in southern Taiwan using SPI

References	Data	Study Area
(Barbosa & Scotto,	ERA5-Land reanalysis	Iberian Peninsula
2022) ([129])		
(De Luca et al.,	ERA5 reanalysis	Mediterranean
2020) ([120])		
(Geirinhas et al.,	ERA-5 reanalysis	Southeast Brazil
2021) ([104])		
(Bevacqua et al.,	ERA-5 reanalysis	—
2021) ([121])		
(Alizadeh et al.,	ERA5 reanalysis	Eurasian
2020) ([122])		
(Alizadeh et al.,	Climate Divisional	Contiguous United States
2020) ([123])		
(Russo et al., 2019)	Climatic Research Unit	Mediterranean
([124])	(CRU)	
(Ribeiro et al.,	ECAD-EOBS v14 daily t	Iberian Peninsula
2020) ([125])		
(Tuel et al., 2022) (ERA5 reanalysis, EOBS	Europe
[130])		
(Mukherjee et al.,	ERA5 reanalysis, Gleam	Global
2023) ([103])		
(Zhang et al.,	Bio-ORACLEand	China
2020) ([126])	GMED	
(Cardoso Pereira et	ECA&D	Iberian Peninsula
al., 2020) ([128])		

Table 2.1: Key research papers considered in state of the art

and RDI, similarly Markov chain models have been used in analyzing drought class transitions, using a case study with rainfall data from Southwest China to demonstrate spatial heterogeneity, though it finds no clear evidence of spatial dependency [135]. Alam et al. [136] forecasted agricultural droughts in the Barind region through spatial mapping. These studies illustrate Markov chains' utility in modelling climate dynamics. Hidden Markov Models (HMM) have provided a more probabilistic understanding of drought transitions compared to traditional indices, as demonstrated by Yoo et al. [137]. Markov Chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) methods have outperformed bootstrapping in estimating the uncertainty of multivariate quantiles for hydrometeorological extremes, showing significant benefits in small sample scenarios [138] Further research includes the assessment of ecosystem impacts due to heatwaves and droughts, where heatwave dynamics were explored in the eastern Mediterranean, indicating high intrinsic predictability by Hochman et al. [139]. Studies like Cao and others [140] used multiple Markov chains for drought prediction in the U.S., highlighting the importance of Markov models in drought management. A comprehensive review of compound

extremes involving droughts and heatwaves was conducted by Afroz et al. [141] using probabilistic quantifications in examining the variables, drivers, and impacts of these events, providing a holistic view of climate extremes. Javadinejad et al. [142] employed Markov chain models to forecast drought occurrences in southeast Iran, demonstrating their practical utility in arid climate management.

Hamming distance, a measure of similarity, has been extensively used in various climate studies to analyze weather station data [143], identify regions with similar heatwave patterns, and assess ecosystem vulnerability to climate changes. This section consolidates the usage of Hamming distance across multiple studies, highlighting its role in understanding and adapting to climate-related challenges. The methods have been applied in many fields such as biological, chemical, energy and biochemical [144] fields as well, Pirot et. al. [145] used the same method in topology as a low-scale topological indicator to quantify dissimilarities between geological models by summing the absolute differences in their adjacency matrices, aiding in the assessment of uncertainty and variability in geological predictions. In another study by Raoult and others [146] to compare the bit vectors of wavelet-based fingerprints of meteorological fields, determining their similarity to facilitate the fast retrieval of weather analogues from a multi-petabyte archive. In Identifying Heatwave Patterns by Kalu et al. [147] utilizes Hamming distance as a similarity measure to cluster weather station data. This method identifies regions with similar heatwave patterns, crucial for understanding the impacts of heatwaves on agricultural productivity, thereby aiding in the development of targeted agricultural strategies.

On the other side, another study on drought with satellite data employs Hamming distance to analyze the temporal profiles of the Vegetation Condition Index (VCI) time series. This application allows for the effective identification of drought-affected regions, enabling timely interventions and drought management strategies [148]. The same method is applied as a measure of similarity to evaluate comprehensive drought in the Qucun Yellow River Irrigation Region by comparing different drought assessment models and integrating relative membership degrees in a fuzzy decision framework, enhancing the accuracy and reliability of drought level evaluations [149].

A study was conducted to assess ecosystem vulnerability by using Hamming distance to quantify the dissimilarity between current and future climate conditions. This assessment helps in evaluating the vulnerability of ecosystems to climate change, including the impacts of droughts and heatwaves, thus facilitating the development of adaptation and mitigation measures [150]. The hamming distance was used in measuring the dissimilarity between two products by calculating the number of differing positions in their binary representations of snow presence, providing a normalized value that reflects the degree of agreement or discrepancy between these satellite observations in monitoring wet snow coverage [151]. Hamming distance was applied directly to compare vegetation index time series across different regions. This facilitates the identification and monitoring of drought patterns, providing essential data for drought response planning and resource allocation [148]. The application of Hamming distance across these studies demonstrates its versatility and effectiveness in enhancing our understanding of climate impacts on agriculture, ecosystem vulnerability, and resource management. By enabling precise comparisons and identifications of climate patterns, Hamming distance serves as a valuable tool in the arsenal of climate adaptation and mitigation strategies.

2.5 Conclusion

Researchers emphasized the significance of physical processes, atmospheric patterns, precipitation, and soil moisture-temperature feedback in shaping these events. They stressed the need for continued research to enhance preparedness and understanding of concurrent extreme events and their dependencies. In this tale of scientific exploration, researchers from various disciplines joined forces to uncover the intricate web of compound extreme events, pinpointing the importance of an interdisciplinary approach. The collective efforts shed light on the complex relationship between weather phenomena, identified vulnerable regions, and offered vital insights for better preparedness and mitigation strategies. Through numerous studies, researchers have made much effort to explore the effects and relationship between extreme weather events, such as droughts and heatwaves, and the factors driving them. Although much effort has been made, understanding these relationships and various extreme events continues to be a challenge needing a continued and clear explanation. Utilising various datasets and methodologies, they have identified specific regions, processes, and physical factors that influence these events. The studies highlight the need for further research to understand and prepare for the impacts of compound extreme events. By unravelling the complexities of these events, scientists strive to protect communities and assets in the face of a changing climate.
Chapter 3

Data and Methodology

3.1 Data

3.1.1 Data Download

The first stage of our analysis involved acquiring the necessary data. The data was downloaded from the ERA5 dataset using the CDS API. The dataset contains daily means of total precipitation and 2m temperature from 1950 to 2022 for the Iberian region.

The ERA5 dataset - a global atmospheric reanalysis produced by the European Centre for Medium-Range Weather Forecasts (ECMWF)provides a wealth of meteorological variables, including temperature and precipitation, at a daily resolution. The Climate Data Store (CDS) API, an ECMWF service enabling users to programmatically access and download the datasets, was used. To automate this process, a Python function which specifies the years, months, days and hours for the request to be sent was created. The function initiates a new instance of the CDS API client and generates a list of years to retrieve data. The default range from 1950 to 2022 was set with a fine spatial resolution of 0.25 degrees, which can be easily adjusted by changing the function's The function then sends a data retrieval request to the parameters. ERA5 dataset. The data for the 'total_precipitation' and '2m_temperature' variables for each month of the specified years was then retrived. For each day, each hourly data is downloaded and requested in 'netcdf' format. The geographical area was also specified, setting the boundaries to encompass the Iberian Peninsula, with coordinates [44, -10, 36, 4] representing the North, West, South, and East boundaries, respectively. Upon successful retrieval, the data is saved as a NetCDF file named "ERA5_daily_data_Iberian_Peninsula_year_month.nc". Each file contains data of each year's unique month records. These files contain all the requested data and are the starting point for our subsequent analysis.

After successfully downloading the ERA5 dataset, the next step in the analysis was to load and preprocess the data. A Python function, 'load_data()', is created to automate this process. This function begins by loading the data from the NetCDF files 'ERA5_temperature_data_iberian.nc' using the 'xr.open_dataset()' function from the xarray library. This function reads the file and returns an xarray. Dataset object, which is a multidimensional, in-memory, array-based dataset. After loading the data, the function checks if the dataset is empty. If the dataset is empty, it raises a ValueError with a message indicating that the dataset is empty and suggesting checking the file path or content. Next, the function converts the xarray.Dataset object to a pandas DataFrame using the 'to_dataframe()' method. This method flattens the multi-dimensional dataset into a 2D table, making it easier to manipulate and analyze the data. Finally, the function checks if the resulting DataFrame is empty. If the DataFrame is empty, it raises a ValueError with a message indicating that the DataFrame is empty and suggesting to check the dataset. If all checks pass, the function returns the DataFrame. This Dataframe contains all the data from the ERA5 dataset, ready for further analysis.

3.1.2 Data Preprocessing

After acquiring the necessary data, the next step was to preprocess the data to ensure it was in a suitable format for analysis. A Python function, 'preprocess_data(data)' was created to automate this process. Since the interest of the study is based on daily means, daily means were calculated from the hourly means, which gives a true representation of daily means.

Temperature Conversion

The ERA5 dataset provides temperature data in Kelvin. However, for ease of understanding and analysis, we converted the temperature data to Celsius using the formula 'C = K - 273.15', where 'C' is the temperature in Celsius and 'K' is the temperature in Kelvin.

Outlier Detection and Handling

We assumed that the temperature data follows a Gaussian distribution and used the Z-score method for outlier detection. A Z-score measures how many standard deviations an element is from the mean. Any data point with a Z-score greater than 3 was considered to be an outlier.

If any outliers were found, they were replaced with NaN and then the forward fill method to fill them. If no outliers were found, a message was printed to confirm this.

3.1.3 Nature of Data

Descriptive statistics, histograms, and correlation calculations were performed on the data. A scatter plot for temperature vs total precipitation was also plotted.

3.2 Heatwaves

In the context of this comprehensive climate study using the ERA5 dataset, we conducted an in-depth analysis of heatwave conditions. Heatwaves, characterised by extended periods of excessively hot weather, often accompanied by high humidity, have significant implications for both the environment and public health [152].

This section provides a detailed methodological approach for identifying heatwave events within a climate dataset. This process is well-designed to capture heatwave occurrences based on temperature anomalies, employing a series of computational steps tailored to refine the detection criteria. Below, each step is explained and rationalized within the context of the study:

Calculation of Daily 90th Percentile Temperatures

A key step in the method is the calculation of the 90th percentile temperature for each day of the year across all included years. This is achieved by finding the 90th percentile temperature for each day of the year. The resultant series represents the 90th percentile temperature for each unique day, serving as a threshold to identify unusually high temperatures, indicative of extreme weather events.

Calculation of the 90th Percentile Threshold Over a Rolling Window on the Daily 90th Percentile

The initial step involves calculating a dynamic threshold for heatwave detection by employing a rolling window technique on the Daily_90th_percentile temperature data [153]. The choice of a 31-day window, centered around each day enables the inclusion of a broader temporal context in setting the threshold. This method adjusts for seasonal and interannual variability, ensuring the 90th percentile threshold reflects the climatological norms and anomalies for each period. The quantile calculation at 0.9 within this window identifies the temperature above which only the top 10% of extreme temperature values fall, setting a rigorous benchmark for heatwave conditions.

Identification of Days Above the 90th Percentile

By comparing daily average temperatures (temperature) against the calculated 90th percentile threshold, the function flags days where temperatures exceed this critical value. This binary classification (is_above_90th) serves as a preliminary filter for potential heatwave days, isolating instances of abnormal heat.

Calculation of Rolling Sum to Identify Sequences of Abnormal Temperature Days

There is a further refinement of the identification process by calculating a rolling sum of days flagged as exceeding the 90th percentile threshold over a 5-day window, with a minimum of three days required (min_periods=3). This step ensures that only sustained periods of abnormal temperatures are considered, aligning with the definition of heatwaves as events that persist for several days.

Heatwave Day Identification

A critical part of the function is the determination of actual heatwave days. This is achieved by evaluating whether the rolling sum of abnormal temperature days equals 5 within the predefined window, indicating a continuous sequence of high temperatures typical of a heatwave. This condition ensures the detected heatwaves reflect significant and prolonged periods of heat stress.

Adjustment for Brief Interruptions in Heatwave Conditions

Recognizing the dynamic nature of heatwaves, the function includes a mechanism to account for brief interruptions in heatwave conditions. It retrospectively assesses sequences where a heatwave might be interrupted by one or two days of relatively cooler temperatures but is immediately followed by a return to heatwave conditions. This adjustment ensures the continuity of heatwave identification, accounting for minor fluctuations in temperature that do not significantly break the overall pattern of a heatwave.

Final Classification and Cleanup

The last step concludes by mapping the boolean heatwave flags to a more descriptive 'yes'/'no' format, facilitating easier interpretation and analysis of the results. Additionally, the DataFrame is cleaned by removing intermediate calculation columns no longer needed for further analysis, streamlining the dataset for subsequent use.

This sequence of operations represents a comprehensive and scientifically grounded approach to heatwave detection, emphasizing the importance of both intensity and duration in defining such events. Each step is carefully calibrated to ensure the accurate and meaningful identification of heatwave occurrences, contributing valuable insights into the study of climate patterns and extremes. Figure 3.1 below shows the time series of average temperature at a single grid-point indicating heatwaves as well and Figure 3.2 throws more emphasizes on the 2003 climate year.



Figure 3.1: Temperature Trend with Heatwave Indicator using 31-day moving window (1950 to 2022).



Figure 3.2: Temperature and Heatwave trends in 2003.

3.3 Drought

In our analysis of the ERA5 dataset, we conducted a drought analysis to identify periods of abnormally low rainfall. Drought is typically characterised as a prolonged period of significantly below-average precipitation, leading to water shortages [81]. To quantify the drought, we used the Standardized Precipitation Index (SPI) and Standardized Precipitation-Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI), widely accepted indices that measure to measure drought conditions. The SPI/SPEI indices can be calculated in different time scales (e.g., 1,2,3,6,12, and 24 months) and each time scale can be used to represent a different type of drought as follows:

3.3.1 SPI/SPEI time scales

- 1-Month Scale (SPI-1 and SPEI-1): Reflects immediate moisture conditions, sensitive to short-term precipitation anomalies and meteorological events. SPEI-1 additionally accounts for potential evapotranspiration (PET), making it sensitive to both precipitation deficits and temperature-induced increases in evaporation.
- 2-Month Scale (SPI-2 and SPEI-2): Useful for monitoring short-term drought conditions, these indices integrate precipitation and PET over two months, providing a detailview of recent weather impacts on moisture levels.
- 3-Month Scale (SPI-3 and SPEI-3): Aimed at assessing seasonal or short-term drought impacts, particularly in agricultural settings. While SPI-3 focuses solely on precipitation, SPEI-3 includes PET to better reflect the effects of both rainfall and evaporation trends.
- 6-Month Scale (SPI-6 and SPEI-6): Indicates medium-term trends in moisture conditions, essential for planning in agriculture and water resource management. This scale is particularly valuable for understanding moisture availability across growing seasons.
- 12-Month Scale (SPI-12 and SPEI-12): Captures long-term trends in moisture conditions, integrating a year's worth of precipitation and evapotranspiration data. These indices are crucial for analyzing hydrological drought and its broader impacts on water systems, making them particularly relevant for long-term water resource management and policy planning.
- 24-Month Scale (SPI-24 and SPEI-24): Provides insights into extended moisture and precipitation trends over two years, essential for assessing the impact of climate variability and change on hydrological conditions.

The SPI values were computed with 3, 6, and 12 month windows, resulting in a time series of SPI-3, SPI-6, and SPI-12 values. After getting the SPI-12 values, the values are classified into various drought conditions. The Table 3.1 gives the details of the drought categories based on the SPI values.

For example, SPEI-12 can record long-term moisture patterns, which consider both decreased rainfall and increasing evaporation. This is an extremely important factor to consider when dealing with changing climatic circumstances. Due to this, SPEI is especially important in regions where the circumstances of drought are being made worse by rising temperatures. When the SPEI values are classified into drought categories, it provides a comprehensive assessment of the severity of the drought by taking into consideration both the reduced amount of precipitation and the increased amount of evapotranspiration. Within the current context of global warming, this dual concern is of the utmost importance.

Class	SPI/SPEI Values
Extremely wet	2.0 or more
Very wet	1.5 to 2.0
Moderately wet	1.0 to 1.5
Mild wet	0 to 1.0
Near normal	-1.0 to 0
Moderately dry	-1.5 to -1.0
Severely dry	-2.0 to -1.5
Extremely dry	-2.0 or less

Table 3.1: Drought Classifications

3.3.2 Drought Classifications

The values in the Table 3.1 are used to classify the severity of drought or wet conditions based on SPI/SPEI values:

- Extremely wet (2.0 or more): This indicates an exceptionally high amount of precipitation much greater than the average.
- Very wet (1.5 to 2.0): This shows a very high amount of precipitation significantly above the average.
- Moderately wet (1.0 to 1.5): This signifies an above-average amount of precipitation.
- Mild wet (0 to 1.0): This represents a slightly higher than average amount of precipitation.
- Near normal (-1.0 to 0): This category indicates a near-average amount of precipitation.
- Moderately dry (-1.5 to -1.0): This shows a slightly below-average amount of precipitation, suggesting a mild drought.
- Severely dry (-2.0 to -1.5): This indicates a significant lack of precipitation, indicating a severe drought.
- Extremely dry (-2.0 or less): This shows an extreme lack of precipitation, indicating an extremely severe drought.

The SPI and SPEI are crucial in drought monitoring and early warning systems, both are very in drought analysis and this work puts more attention to use SPI. As such, the measures and their classification play a significant role in understanding climate variability and its impacts.

3.4 Markov Chain

3.4.1 Application of Markov Chains to Analyze Climate State Transitions

This section provides an overview of the use of Markov Chain analysis to the study of transitions between specified climatic states, with a particular emphasis on heatwaves and drought situations. The analysis and prediction of state transitions based on observed climate data is accomplished through the utilisation of a Markov Chain, which is a stochastic model that describes a sequence of possible events in which the probability of each event is purely dependent on the state that was attained if came before it.

Our dataset comprises records of heatwave occurrences and drought conditions, quantified using the Standardized Precipitation Index (SPI) and also the Standardized Precipitation Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI) over intervals of 3, 6, and 12 months, alongside timestamps. The initial step involves mapping these records to discrete states based on the presence or absence of heatwaves as well as drought. A method is designed to classify each record into one of four states: '00' (no heatwave, no drought), '01' (no heatwave, drought), '10' (heatwave, no drought), and '11' (heatwave and drought). The creation of a finite state space, which is required for Markov Chain analysis, is made possible by this categorization. This space enables the study of transitions between various states over time.

Chapter 4

Results

This chapter presents the findings of the analysis aimed at understanding the climate patterns of the Iberian region, with a particular focus on drought and heatwave events from 1950 to 2022. This study began on a methodological journey, applying advanced statistical and computational approaches to explore the relationship between climatic extremes. The dataset that was used for this study was the ERA5 dataset. The objectives presented in the earlier sections served as a guide for the analytical procedures throughout this study. The primary objective was to discover the temporal dynamics and the relationship between the most important climatic variables, namely temperature and precipitation, and how these variables contribute to extreme compound weather events. Some of the things that are talked about in this chapter are drought analysis using the Standardised Precipitation Index (SPI) and the Standardised Precipitation-Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI), heatwave detection using temperature anomalies, and Markov Chain analysis to look at how the climate changes over time. A structured narrative that integrates theoretical notions with empirical findings is presented in each section of this chapter. Several levels of complexity are present in climate data, and the purpose of each part of the process is to discover those layers.

This analysis lays the groundwork for more in-depth research into climatic phenomena. The first portion provides a foundational understanding of the climatic conditions that are present in the Iberian region by focusing on the general features of the data on temperature and precipitation. In the following step, the findings of the drought analysis are provided, which provide information on the frequency, length, and intensity of drought events as measured by the SPI and SPEI indices. This section investigates the incidence of heatwaves and their temporal distribution and severity to provide light on the continuously shifting dynamics of situations characterised by severe temperatures. Following that, the chapter moves on to the results of the Markov Chain analysis, which is a novel approach in this study. The purpose of this analysis is to gain an understanding of the probabilistic transitions that occur between various climatic states, with a particular emphasis on the interaction between temperature extremes and drought conditions. Using this technique, one may gain a forward-looking view of the possibility of projecting climate alterations within the region. The section also contributes to a more complex knowledge of climatic variability and extreme weather events that occur on the Iberian Peninsula. The findings that are reported are examined in the context of their consequences for climate science, the design of policies, and adaptive measures in response to the effects of global climate change.

4.1 **Descriptive Statistics**

After acquiring the data, a preliminary analysis was performed to understand the basic characteristics of our dataset. We used the 'describe()' method in Python, which provides a summary of the central tendency, dispersion, and shape of the dataset's distribution, excluding 'NaN' values.

The 'describe()' method was applied to the dataframe, which contains two variables: 'Total Precipitation' (in m) and 'Temperature' (in °C) of the daily data of the study area. The method returned the following statistics:

Description	Precipitation (mm)	Temperature (°C)
Count	50,153,100	50,153,100
Mean	1.8754	14.9257300
Standard Deviation	4.8024	6.3889400
Minimum Value	0.0000	-21.8978300
25th Percentile (Q1)	0.0000	10.7760800
Median (50th Percentile, Q2)	0.0424	14.9534700
75th Percentile (Q3)	1.2006	19.4715900
Maximum Value	203.1700	38.6434300

Table 4.1: Statistical Summary of Daily Average Temperature and Accumulated Precipitation

Description	Precipitation (mm)	Temperature (°C)
Count	26,663	26,663
Mean	1.3273	17.863832
Standard Deviation	4.2425	4.810658
Minimum Value	0.0000	1.490685
25th Percentile (Q1)	0.0000	13.792804
Median (50th Percentile, Q2)	0.0177	17.057856
75th Percentile (Q3)	0.5734	22.319162
Maximum Value	129.8086	29.713526

Table 4.2: Statistical Summary of Average Daily Temperature and Accumulated Precipitation Latitude:40.0 Longitude:2.0

The average daily temperature is estimated to be around 14.93°C, suggesting the possibility of a temperate climatic zone or a composite of other climate zones that have been averaged. With a standard deviation of around 6.39°C, temperature variation is substantial. This may be

the result of seasonal variations in the data, which is extremely wide in temperature, ranging from a minimum of -21.90°C to a maximum of 38.64°C. The existence of these exceedingly high temperatures implies that the dataset potentially encompasses many seasons. The average precipitation is an extremely meagre 1.88 millimetres. Although the standard deviation for precipitation is 4.80 mm, it remains below the mean value, suggesting minimal unpredictability in precipitation. The precipitation ranges between a low of 0.00 mm and a maximum of 0.20317 mm in magnitude. The observed peak value deviates considerably from the average, indicating the possible existence of exceptional precipitation occurrences. The 75th percentile for precipitation is established at 1.20 mm, which signifies that the 75th percentile of the records has precipitation of little more than or equal to this amount. This further supports the notion that the climate is usually arid or that the dataset has several dry spells.

This is important as it can provide insights into how these two variables interact, which is fundamental in climate studies. To achieve this, the correlation is calculated between the 'Temperature (°C))' and 'Total Precipitation (m)' columns in our dataset. The correlation was computed using the corr() method, which provides the Pearson correlation coefficient, a measure of the linear relationship between two variables. The result of our correlation computation is -0.1581. This value indicates a weak negative relationship between temperature and total precipitation. In the context of our dataset, this suggests that as the temperature slightly increases, the accumulated precipitation slightly decreases, and vice versa.

In the continued elaboration of the ERA5 dataset, we sought to understand the temporal trends in temperature and total precipitation. This involved examining how the average temperature and total precipitation changed every year.

Comparative Analysis

The mean temperature at a single grid point (latitude 40 and longitude 2) is higher (17.86°C) compared to the whole region's mean (14.93°C), this shows that the area data has variability in nature. The standard deviation of temperature at the single grid point is lower (4.81°C) than that of the whole region (6.39°C), indicating less variability in temperature and potentially a more stable climate at this grid point. Particularly noticeable in the region-wide data are the temperature extremes, including the minimum temperature (-21.90°C), which is far lower than the lowest temperature recorded at a single grid point (1.49°C). The somewhat lower average precipitation at the single grid point compared to the region may indicate that this grid point is, on average, drier than the region. At the single grid point, the standard deviation of precipitation is somewhat smaller, suggesting a reduced degree of unpredictability in precipitation quantities in comparison to the entire region. The fact that the highest precipitation value at the single grid point is lower than that of the entire region indicates that other areas of the region experience more extreme precipitation occurrences. In comparison to the general region, the temperature and precipitation at the single grid point appear to be less variable, rendering it warmer and drier. The diversity of climatic conditions across all grid points is reflected in the broader range of temperature and precipitation values for the whole region. This includes places characterised by cooler temperatures and more severe precipitation occurrences. This comparison may serve as an indication of microclimate influences specific to the individual grid point, or it may be a result of the location's geographical attributes (e.g., proximity to a city, coastline, or higher elevation) in contrast to the entire region. Similarly, the correlation computation for the single grid point is computed and it is -0.1080 which is a little higher compared to -0.1581 for the whole region.

Scatter Plots of Temperature and Precipitation



Figure 4.1: Scatter Plot of Average Temperature vs Total Precipitation



Figure 4.2: Scatter Plot of Average Temperature vs Total Precipitation for a single grid point

The scatter plot illustrates the correlation between the total precipitation and the average temperature. The graphic portrayal prompts the following observations:

- The data point density is significantly greater in the vicinity of lower temperatures and precipitation levels. This indicates that a considerable proportion of observations correlate less precipitation with lower temperatures.
- Most of the precipitation values exhibit a concentration at the lower extremity of the scale, accompanied by a limited number of occurrences with greater precipitation. This may suggest a reduced frequency of heavy precipitation occurrences.
- A limited number of data points exhibit high precipitation levels that deviate significantly from the overall trend observed in most of the data. These may symbolise severe meteorological phenomena, such as heavy rainfall or storms.
- At the specific grid location (add location here), lower precipitation levels are seen more often, as shown by the single grid scatter figure. The single grid scatter plot has fewer data points over the temperature range than the total region, indicating less temperature fluctuation.
- The grid point scatter plot shows reduced precipitation with fewer high values. This matches the data summary showing a lower grid point mean and maximum precipitation.

- In contrast, the plot for the entire region scatter plot revealed more precipitation values, including greater extremes as expected.
- Temperature does not appear to be linearly related to precipitation in either scatter plot. The grid-point-specific plot revealed less precipitation variability than the region-wide plot, which indicated a modest rise with higher temperatures.

Yearly Average Temperature Over Time

The first part of this analysis involved plotting the yearly average temperature over time for the all region. This was done by grouping the data by year and calculating the mean temperature for each year for all the region. The resulting time series was then plotted using a line plot, with each data point represented by a circle marker.



Figure 4.3: Yearly Average Temperature Over Time, $\Delta T = 1.673$

The resulting plot provides a clear visual representation of how the average temperature has changed over time. The x-axis represents time (in years), and the y-axis represents the average temperature (in degrees Celsius). ΔT = 1.673 shows that with time the average temperature in the Iberian Peninsula is significantly getting higher.

Total Precipitation Over Time

A similar analysis was performed for the daily mean precipitation over time.



Figure 4.4: Daily Total Precipitation Over Time

4.2 SPI/SPEI Climatology

The resulting plot provides a clear visual representation of how the daily precipitation has changed over time. The x-axis represents time (in years), and the y-axis represents the daily precipitation (in millimetres).



Figure 4.5: Temperature Climatology of the Iberian Peninsula

Seasonal Average Temperature over the Iberian Peninsula



Figure 4.6: Seasonal Temperature Climatology of the Iberian Peninsula



Figure 4.7: Precipitation Climatology of the Iberian Peninsula



Standardized Precipitation Index (SPI) Over time(lat 41.25, lon -0.25)

Figure 4.8: Standardized Precipitation Index (SPI-3,6,12) of a Selected grid point in the Iberian Peninsula Over Time using.



Standardized Precipitation-Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI) Over Time(lat 41.25, lon -0.25)

Figure 4.9: Standardized Precipitation-Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI-3,6,12) Over Time using.

Figure4.8 and 4.9 are time series graph of the Standardised Precipitation Index (SPI 3,6,12) and Standardized Precipitation-Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI 3,6,12)for a specific location (latitude 41.25, longitude -0.25). Drought monitoring and climate studies use these indices to quantify precipitation deficits over time. The graphs show fluctuations from 1950 to 2022. Blue areas indicate positive values, where precipitation was above the median for the period and red areas indicate negative values, where precipitation was below the median. The y-axis shows the SPI/SPEI value scale from -2 to +2. Positive SPI values indicate higher precipitation (wetter conditions), while negative values indicate lower precipitation (drier conditions). Multiple years of negative SPI values indicate a drought. Similar clusters of positive SPI values indicate wet periods as well as the SPEI.

4.3 Monthly states of random grid points

The following figures provide a detailed visual representation of the temporal pattern of heatwaves and droughts from 1951 to 2022 in specific regions monthly. By observing data from selected grid points, the figures offer valuable insights into climate variability and changes over the years. Each figure represents data from different periods and geographical coordinates, with various extreme events illustrated using distinct markers. Yellow squares represent heatwaves, dotted squares indicate drought months, and red squares with asterisks symbolize compound events - the simultaneous occurrence of heatwaves and droughts. Trends, seasonality of events, frequency, duration and the variability of these extreme climate conditions can be observed.



Figure 4.10: Monthly State values over years Heatwaves and Drought (SPI-12) 1951 - 1979 latitude: 37.0 longitude: -6.0



Figure 4.11: Monthly State values over years Heatwaves and Drought (SPI-12) 1975 - 1999 latitude: 37.0 longitude: -6.0



Figure 4.12: Monthly State values over years Heatwaves and Drought (SPI-12) 2001 - 2022 latitude: 37.0 longitude: -6.0

The Figure 4.10 - 4.12 show the the temporal pattern of heatwaves and droughts between 1951 and 2022 in the region, taking some random grid points, providing important information on climate variability and change. The data reveals important patterns with substantial implications for environmental management and policymaking. Heatwaves, shown by yellow squares in the visualizations, have noticeably increased throughout the years, especially in the late 20th century and the first two decades of the 21st century. This observation is consistent with worldwide patterns and strengthens the story of a globe experiencing rising temperatures [154]. Heatwaves exhibit a distinct pattern of seasonality, mainly happening during the summer months, with occasional occurrences in spring and fall, aligning with the anticipated seasonal occurrence of these events.

The frequency and duration of drought months, represented by dotted squares, show some variability but demonstrate a noticeable increase towards the end of the data run. This may indicate a rising pattern in drought conditions that may be associated with both natural climatic cycles and human impacts. Compound events (Heatwaves and droughts), represented by red squares with asterisks, keep increasing over time, especially since the 1980s. The simultaneous occurrence of these phenomena is especially worrying, as they increase the likelihood of negative effects on ecosystems and human society. The visual data shows that some years had consecutive occurrences of high heat or drought, while other years were comparatively mild. Interannual variability is crucial for resource management, emphasising the necessity for strong adaptive techniques to deal with extreme conditions and unpredictability.

4.4 Markov chains of extreme climate events

4.4.1 Markov Chain transitional probabilities

An in-depth comprehension of the state transitions that occur between heatwaves and drought conditions is being obtained through the application of Markov Chains in the analysis of climatic data. The calculation of Markov chain Transitional Probabilities allows for a systematization of the results reached in the previous section for the all area. In each of the states ('10', '01', '11', and '00'), the presence of a heatwave, drought, both, or neither is the binary representation of the situation. The odds of transitioning from one climatic condition to another have been computed using transition matrices, which provide a descriptive and predictive perspective on the dynamics of climate. The graphs represent transitions from the first month sixth months. For example, transitions to the '11' state (both heatwave and drought) are not frequent, which means the occurrence of these two conditions known as compound events does not occur frequently. Conversely, transitions to the '00' state (no heatwave, no drought) are more frequent. The state stability analysis uncovers those certain states, like '00', exhibit a higher degree of stability, with a greater likelihood of remaining in the same state over consecutive time steps. This suggests a natural climatic resilience against extreme events such as heatwaves and droughts. Across all the state transitions, certain paths are not common. In 4.14 the transition between heatwave month and compound event month is very weak in the if even there is existence. If the current month is in either the '10' or '11' state the next closet transition, 3rd, and 5th transitions have no probability of moving between these two states.



State Transition Diagrams Over 6 Months Using Heatwave and Drought (SPI-12) (lat 41.25, lon -0.25)

Figure 4.13: Markov chain demonstrating probability of changing to another state Heatwaves and SPI-12



State Transition Diagrams Over 6 Months Using Heatwave and Drought (SPI-6) (lat 41.25, lon -0.25)

Figure 4.14: Markov chain demonstrating probability of changing to another state Heatwaves and SPI-6

Figure 4.13 presents the in-depth analysis of the SPI-12 six-month Markov chain transition probabilities provided significant insight into the climate system's shifts between various states which encompass '00' (no heatwave/no drought), '01' (drought without heatwave), '10' (heatwave without drought), and '11' (both heatwave and drought). While the '00' state, indicative of no extreme weather conditions, is the most favourable for living, the primary focus of this analysis lies in understanding the dynamics and probabilities of the system transitioning to the other. The system has a strong tendency to remain in the '00' state, indicating a high level of natural resilience and stability. In the first month, the probability of maintaining this state is exceptionally high at 0.9205 if the current state is '00'. This reflects a robust starting point of stability. Although this probability exhibits a slight decrease over the six-month transitions, it remains consistently high, settling at 0.8616 by the end of the sixth month. This enduring trend towards the '00' state signifies the system's inherent resilience and a strong tendency to remain in the most favourable state, despite potential disruptions to shift to other states. The current month with no extreme effect tries to maintain itself with a high probability between 0.9205 and 0.8616, showing that when the current state is '00' the is a higher probability of maintaining the same state in the upcoming months.

The system shows several vulnerabilities to transitioning to other states, each of which represents more severe climate conditions. In the case of the '01' state, which represents drought conditions without a heatwave, the first-month transition presents a relatively significant probability of transitioning from the '00' state, standing at 0.0412. This suggests an initial vulnerability to drought within the system. However, as the months progress, this vulnerability appears to increase, with the transition probability to the '01' state dropping to 0.0899 by the sixth month. This trend could indicate if the current is not experiencing any extreme climate conditions, there is a bit of a chance of close to 9 percent in the sixth month.

Transitions to the '10' state from the normal month condition, representing heatwave conditions without a drought, were less prevalent initially but showed a gradual increase as time progressed. Notably, by the end of the sixth month, the probability of the system transitioning to the '10' state from the '00' state reached 0.0399. The transition probabilities for the compound event state, '11', representing both heatwave and drought conditions, remained consistently low throughout the six-month transitions. Starting from a mere risk of 0.0014 in the first month, the probability remained low, reaching 0.0086 by the end of the sixth-month transition. These show that it is almost not possible for the climate conditions to transit from '00' states to compound events '11' and needs some intermediate transitions which are '01' and '10'. For the current state to be '01', the system starts with a probability of 0.7203 in the first month to remain in the same state. However, this probability decreases to 0.4322 by the sixth month. Transitions within state '10' are initially less common, with a probability of 0.1714 in the first-month shift. However, this probability increases over time, reaching a significant 0.1212 by the sixth month. This trend indicates that heatwave months do not show a higher probability of maintaining

the same climate conditions with time but maintaining the extreme event with a probability between 0.1714 and 0.1212 is still a threat due to the consequence of this event.

The transition probabilities within state 11, representing the simultaneous occurrence of both heatwave and drought, also fluctuate. Starting from a 0 probability in the first month, the probability reaches 0.1667 in the fourth and sixth months, indicating sporadic occurrences of both conditions. In terms of transitions between these states ('10','01','11'), the probabilities vary. For instance, the probability of transitioning from state 01 to state 10 in the first month is 0.0254, which decreases to 0.0169 by the sixth month. The transition from state 10 to state 11 sees an increase from 0 in the first month to 0.0286 in the fourth month, before dropping to 0 again by the sixth month. This analysis follows similar pattern as in the SPI-6 Figure4.14

4.4.2 Spatial correlation of Markov states

Heatmaps of state transitions

It is less likely that a heatwave will occur if the same heatwave condition is maintained exclusively inside the shift throughout any of the succeeding six months. There are geographical locations that are comparable to one another that demonstrate a strong sign of transition throughout the first two months of the transition and during the final month of the transition. Throughout the remainder of the month, there are few dispersed regions that display strong transitional signals, and the indicators are weak. On the other hand, when it comes to the transition to other states, the drought that occurred during the heatwave month demonstrates only relatively minor and noticeable alterations during the first month of transition, while the next months exhibit clear indications of transition.



Figure 4.15: Heatmaps of State Transitions. 46

The transition from compound events to heatwave events without drought has a very low probability of occurring in geographical areas that are geographically distant from one another and that exhibit strong signals of change. On the heatmap, the first and second months of transition show absolutely no sign of transition. However, as the number of transition months grows, the density of changes shows a little increase. During the transformations that occurred in the late months, only a few areas indicated a stronger transition. During the shift, the change from months with only drought from the same compound event month to months with drought is relatively similar throughout all of the months. On the other hand, the transitions are not particularly powerful, but the most recent three months appear to be stronger than the months that came before them. Generally speaking, with regard to Figure 4.15 and from State '11' to '00' the probability of transitioning from a month with compound events to a month with normal events and no severe events is extremely low. Additionally, some random places can display these transitions. In the first two months, this adjustment appears to be quite difficult to accomplish.

4.5 Hamming distance to assess spatial conditions of extreme events

After applying the Hamming distance to assess how each pair of grid points is strongly connected, their pattern simultaneously occurs. The weight of each line between the pairs of grid points is determined by how strong they behave similarly which is the inverse of the hamming distance since it measures dissimilarity.



Figure 4.16: Inverse of Hamming distance between pairs of grid-points grouped by years



Figure 4.17: Inverse of Hamming distance between pairs of grid-points from 1951-2022

Figure 4.16 assesses the similarity of extreme climate events, between different regions in the Iberian Peninsula. (Row 1, Left) Graph with the cumulative similarities between 1951 and 1975, (Row 2) between 1976 and 2001, (Row 3) between 2002 and 2022, and 4.17 the total time 1951-2022. (First col, Top) Graphs showing the 99.00% highest similarities, (2nd col) the 99.9% highest similarities and (3rd col) the 99.99% highest similarities. Figure 4.18 assessing the similarity of extreme climate events, between different regions in the Iberian Peninsula in decades. (Row 1) Graph with the cumulative similarities between 1951 and 1960, (Row 2) between 1961 and 1970, (Row 3) between 1971 and 1980, (Row 4) between 1981 and

1990, (Row 5) between 1991 and 2000, (Row 6) between 2001 and 2010 and (Row 7) between 2011 and 2022. (First Col.) Graphs showing the 99.00% highest similarities, (2nd Col. Mid) the 99.90% highest similarities and (3rd Col., Last) the 99.99% highest similarities. Figure 4.19 has similar positions in terms of the degree of similarities and it is assess the extreme climate event similarity in terms of seasons (Row1: Winter, Row2: Spring, Row3: Summer and Row4: Fall) The similarities are measured by the inverse of the corresponding Hamming distance between each two geographic locations. Blue dots represent grid points, whereas red edges represent the similarity "strength" between pairs of points. The collection of visual data in the graphs represents a profound analytical observation of the evolution and interconnection of extreme climate event similarities across the Iberian Peninsula, spanning over seven decades. This dataset is instrumental in illustrating not only the distribution of these events across distinct geographical nodes but also in deciphering the temporal shifts in climatic patterns. Using the inverse Hamming distance as a measure of similarity between geographic locations offers a quantifiable and scientific method to explore these intricate relationships in climate variability.



Figure 4.18: Inverse of Hamming distance between pairs of grid-points of Different Decades



Figure 4.19: Inverse of Hamming distance between pairs of grid-points Different Seasons

The spatial and temporal dynamics of climate event similarities depicted in the figures underline three notable trends: close proximity correlations, the expansion of similarity clusters over time, and a decreasing intensity of these similarities. Figure 4.18 shows extremely strong connections in pattern in the earlier decades, there is a likelihood of creating discontinuities at the transition points because the ERA5 historic data was produced by running several parallel experiments for each different period, which is then sliced into the final product [155].

Close Proximity Correlation and Its Implications

The observed trends across all time frames are noticeable for the strong climate event similarities in areas within close geographic proximity. This underlines the principle that close grid points often share microclimatic elements and localized environmental factors, such as topography, vegetation, and soil types, which have a direct impact on climate events. The intensity of these events, ranging from heatwaves to drought, is thus closely interlinked within these zones.

Expansion of Similarity Clusters Over Time

A remarkable expansion of similarity clusters from early (1951) to recent (last decade) periods is noted. Initially, clusters were small and localized; however, they have progressively spread to cover larger regions. This pattern suggests a significant shift in the behaviour of extreme climate events, potentially due to changes in regional weather patterns, alterations in global atmospheric circulation, or the effects of climate change. The increased spread might also reflect improvements in data gathering and observational techniques, allowing us to recognize climate event similarities that were previously undetected.

Decreasing Intensity of Similarities and Diversification

Despite the growing geographical coverage of climate event similarities, their intensity seems to be diminishing. This implies a diversification in climate behaviour and a more heterogeneous climate system. Various factors could contribute to this shift, such as diverse local responses to global warming, human alterations of land surfaces, and changes in sea surface temperatures influencing weather patterns.

Graph Density and Degree of Similarity Analysis

Considering the graph density, the initial decades (1951-1980) show an intense network of climate correlations, as illustrated by the 99% similarity threshold. This density denotes synchrony in climate events across numerous locations, possibly due to overarching climatic influences. As we progress towards the 99.9% and 99.99% thresholds, a clear reduction in graph density emerges. These levels filter out all but the most pronounced climatic correlations, indicating either persistent microclimates or areas exhibiting heightened resilience to climate variability.

Evolving Climate Event Patterns

The 99% threshold initially displays the most extensive climatic connections. Over time, these connections spread but become less dense, indicating a broadening impact of extreme climate events within a more complex and interconnected climate system. At the 99.9% threshold, extreme climate events become less common, pointing towards a climate system with less predictability and increased variability in the occurrence of extreme events. Finally, within the strict 99.99% threshold, the figures show that while the frequency of extreme similarities decreases, the geographical spread of such events increases. This suggests that extreme events are not only becoming more geographically widespread but also more unique in their characteristics. In summary, these results show changing patterns of similarity in extreme events. Early periods were characterized by localized, intense climate event similarities, which have since evolved into a more complex web of climate dynamics with broader impacts and less predictability. This highlights the importance of adapting our understanding and response to climate variability in the face of ongoing environmental changes.

A changing climate in the Iberian region is characterized by the observed increase in number of heatwaves and droughts over the research period. Global trends of rising temperatures are consistent with the considerable increase in heatwaves, especially in the last two decades of the 20th century and the first two of the 21st [29, 32]. This temporal trend points to a possible escalation of catastrophic weather occurrences in the area, which might have profound effects on human communities and ecosystems [40]. The unique seasonality of heatwaves, which mostly happen in the summer, is in line with predictions derived from climatological norms. The sporadic events in the spring and fall, however, suggest that seasonal trends are not always consistent. A possible change in seasonal precipitation patterns may be indicated by the rising frequency and length of drought months, especially near the conclusion of the data set [16]. This could have an impact on agricultural practices and the management of water resources.

The Markov Chain analysis highlights the relationship between temperature extremes and drought conditions and offers insightful information about the probabilistic transitions between various climatic states. Policymakers and stakeholders can improve resilience and adaptive capacity by anticipating and preparing for future climate fluctuations by knowing the possibility of shifting between these states. The visualizations highlight areas more vulnerable to extreme weather events by showing the spatial distribution of heatwaves and droughts throughout the region. The spatial clustering of these phenomena that have been observed emphasizes the necessity of focused interventions and tailored adaptive techniques to lessen the effects of these phenomena on communities and ecosystems. Compounded events heatwaves and droughts occurring simultaneously are becoming more common, which presents unique difficulties for environmental management and policy [39]. These occurrences intensify the detrimental impacts on human societies and ecosystems, highlighting the significance of multi-sectoral adaptation strategies and integrated risk assessment.

With a special emphasis on the connection between heatwaves and droughts, the Markov Chain approach provides insightful information about the probability transitions between various climatic states. These transition probabilities between different climatic states drought without heatwaves ('01'), heatwaves without drought ('10'), and both heatwaves and droughts ('11') are shown by the analysis. The system is naturally resilient and stable despite adverse weather conditions, as evidenced by the high probability of staying in the '00' state. This implies that the climate in the area is generally steady, with little tendency toward extreme occurrences [40]. However, there are clear signs of susceptibility to changing into more extreme climate states ('01', '10', or '11'). The analysis in time indicates a possible escalation of drought risk in the region by showing that the initial vulnerability to drought conditions ('01') gradually grows. As a further illustration of the growing likelihood of heatwaves, the

probability of changing to heatwave conditions ('10') likewise rises with time.

According to the data, the likelihood of moving towards compound events ('11'), in which heatwaves and droughts occur at the same time, is consistently low during the study. This implies that although isolated severe occurrences might happen, compound events happen less frequently. The transition probabilities exhibit temporal fluctuations, signifying changes in the probability of encountering distinct environmental conditions throughout time. It is essential to understand these temporal dynamics to plan for future climate fluctuations and to create adaptive methods that lessen the effects of catastrophic weather occurrences [42]. The results of the Markov Chain analysis have significant ramifications for efforts to increase resilience and adapt to climate change. Policymakers and other stakeholders can improve adaptation capacity and lower the risks connected with extreme weather occurrences by identifying vulnerabilities and possible trajectories of climate states.

The heatmaps of state transitions illustrate the results of the spatial correlation analysis of Markov states, which provides information about the geographic patterns of transitions between various climatic states. The analysis focuses on the shift from heatwaves to droughts and vice versa. It is less likely for a heatwave to last for the entire six months that follow, according to the heatmap showing state transitions from one heatwave month to the next. This implies that the persistence of heatwave conditions exhibits some degree of variable and spatial variation [43]. Heatwaves are more likely to persist or fade over time in geographic areas with significant transitional signals during the first and last months of the transition period [104]. The transitional signals, on the other hand, are less strong and more scattered during the intermediate months, indicating higher variability in heatwave persistence [16]. When looking at changes from months of heatwaves to months of droughts, the heatmap shows comparatively small but noticeable changes in the first month of the shift, with more distinct signs of transition in the months that follow. Therefore, implies that the change from heatwave to drought conditions can happen gradually over time, with the first month acting as the start of the transition and the subsequent months showing more noticeable alterations.

The results demonstrate that there is extremely little chance of moving from compound events both heatwave and drought to single extreme events either heatwave or drought, especially in remote locations. According to the heatmap, there are not many changes during the first two months of the transition phase, with the density of changes gradually rising. This suggests that the shift from compound occurrences to single severe events could be difficult and less frequent, particularly in the early phases of the shift.

Understanding the trends and development of extreme climatic events throughout the Iberian Peninsula is made possible by analyzing the spatial-temporal distribution of similar climate events and the Hamming distance. The great degree of climate event similarity between adjacent locations that have been found highlights the important significance that geographic proximity plays. These relationships are influenced by specific environmental conditions and shared microclimatic features, which can affect occurrences such as severe rains and heatwaves [105]. The results show that similarity clusters have grown over several decades, suggesting a change in the behaviour of extreme weather events. This extension shows that weather-related extremes are caused by variables that go beyond traditional territorial borders. These factors may include shifting regional weather patterns and global atmospheric circulation [106, 107]. Similarities between climate events become more spatially widespread, but their strength diminishes over time, indicating a change in the patterns of climate. This implies a wider range of intensities for climate events, perhaps impacted by different local climate reactions to global warming and alterations in land surfaces because of human activity [108].

A decrease in graph density is observed as similarity thresholds are raised, suggesting a transition toward a climate system with more isolated but strong similarities between climate events. This implies a process of selection in which only the strongest climate associations hold true, indicating regions that are resilient to shifting climate conditions or persistent microclimates [8]. The filter isolates the most extreme climate events, which become less frequent over time, at higher thresholds. This suggests that the climate system is changing such that extreme event manifestations are becoming less predictable and more variable.

Chapter 5

Conclusion

5.1 Introduction

This concluding chapter provides an opportunity to reflect on the findings of this research and discuss their implications. It brings together the major insights gleaned from the research, reflecting on the connections between heatwaves and droughts in the Iberian Peninsula. Furthermore, it delves into the potential impacts of these findings on climate adaptation and risk management strategies. This chapter also acknowledges the limitations of the study, proposes recommendations for future research, and discusses the potential directions for future work. Through this synthesis, this chapter aims to underscore the value and relevance of this research in contributing to our understanding of climate patterns and their impacts.

5.2 Summary of Findings

The thesis has offered a wealth of knowledge regarding the statistical relationships between heatwaves and droughts in the Iberian Peninsula. Some of the key insights obtained from the analysis of the data are as follows:

- The relationship between droughts and heatwaves in the Iberian Peninsula is characterized by a complex interplay, with both extremes showing a tendency to increase over time, especially noted in the later decades of the 20th century and early 21st century. This relationship is emphasized by the rising frequency and intensity of heatwaves, aligning with global warming trends, and an increase in the duration and frequency of drought conditions, possibly driven by changes in precipitation patterns and increased evapotranspiration.
- Seasonally, the influence on the climate system in the Iberian Peninsula varies, with heatwaves predominantly occurring during the summer months, as expected, but also showing sporadic instances during spring and fall. This suggests a broadening of the window in which heatwaves can occur, potentially linked to the overall rise

in temperatures. Drought conditions, similarly, appear to be influenced by seasonal shifts, with potential implications for water resource management and agricultural scheduling.

• In terms of transitioning probabilities between climatic conditions, the Markov Chain analysis illustrates that while the baseline state (normal conditions) is relatively stable, there are clear pathways to more extreme states. Transition from normal to drought or heatwave conditions shows a gradual increase in likelihood over time, indicating a shifting baseline towards more frequent extreme conditions. Conversely, transitions from compound extreme events (simultaneous droughts and heatwaves) back to normal conditions are relatively rare, suggesting that once extreme conditions set in, they can be particularly persistent and challenging to revert. This understanding of transition probabilities is crucial for developing adaptive strategies and resilience planning in response to climate variability and change in the Iberian Peninsula.

5.3 Implications of the Research

The findings of this study not only contribute to the existing body of knowledge but also have potential implications for a broader context. These implications could affect policy decisions, shape future research, or even alter current practices. In this section, we will delve into the possible applications of our research findings for both practitioners and policymakers in the field.

The insights generated from this study can be leveraged by policymakers and planners to enhance the resilience of infrastructures and communities, enabling them to withstand extreme climatic events more effectively. The probabilistic models developed in this research can be instrumental in forecasting and preparing for potential future scenarios of droughts and heatwaves. A deeper understanding of the interaction between these extreme events can contribute towards more efficient water resource management and agricultural planning during periods of risk.

5.4 **Recommendations**

Considering the findings of this study, the following recommendations are proposed:

- Future studies should aim to build on this research by incorporating additional climatic variables that could potentially influence or be influenced by heatwaves and droughts.
- There is a necessity for the development of localized models that can predict extreme weather events for specific regions within the Iberian Peninsula, considering their unique geographical features.
• Investment in climate data collection and monitoring tools should be increased to enhance the accuracy and reliability of future studies. Which can be amplified to a larger area.

5.5 Limitations of the thesis

Despite the rigorous methodologies and substantial findings, this study, like all research, is not without its limitations. It is important to acknowledge these constraints as a guide for future research and a lens through which to view the results. The following are some of the limitations:

- The research was limited to the analysis of reanalysis data, which may contain inherent biases or errors. The ERA5 historical data was generated through parallel experiments for different periods, which were later combined, potentially leading to discontinuities at the transition points, especially from the earlier years to 1979 [155].
- A notable constraint of this index mainly used (SPI) is its considerable sensitivity to variations in the duration of distinct statistical periods [156, 157].
- Although the Markov Chain provides a good basis for understanding the transitions between various states, it assumes that past conditions are reliable predictors of future states. This assumption may not always be valid, especially in the context of rapidly changing climate conditions.

5.6 Future Work

While this study has provided valuable insights into the relationship between heatwaves and droughts in the Iberian Peninsula, it also opens up new avenues for future research. These potential directions are not only extensions of this research but also opportunities to delve deeper into unexplored aspects or address questions that have arisen from our findings. Some of the potential areas that future studies could explore to further enhance our understanding of this complex climatic interplay are:

- Investigate the impact of global climate change trends on the frequency and intensity of droughts and heatwaves.
- Consider integrating more sophisticated statistical methods or machine learning models to predict extreme events with higher accuracy.
- Conduct a detailed examination of the socio-economic impacts of these extreme events on the Iberian Peninsula, with a particular focus on sectors such as agriculture and public health.

• Also to find the mechanisms that drive the relationship between droughts and heatwaves, and how can this be used to develop adaptation and mitigation strategies.

Bibliography

- IPCC. 'Annex VII: Glossary [Matthews, J.B.R., V. Möller, R. van Diemen, J.S. Fuglestvedt, V. Masson-Delmotte, C. Méndez, S. Semenov, A. Reisinger (eds.)]' In: Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Ed. by V. Masson-Delmotte et al. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press, 2021, pp. 2215–2256. DOI: 10. 1017/9781009157896.022.
- [2] Robert D Cess. 'Climate change: An appraisal of atmospheric feedback mechanisms employing zonal climatology'. In: *Journal of Atmospheric Sciences* 33.10 (1976), pp. 1831–1843.
- [3] Amanda H Korstjens and Alison P Hillyer. 'Primates and climate change: A review of current knowledge'. In: An introduction to primate conservation (2016), pp. 175–192.
- [4] Sadguru Prakash. 'Impact of Climate change on Aquatic Ecosystem and its Biodiversity: An overview.' In: *International Journal of Biological Innovations* 3.2 (2021).
- [5] Junliang Fan et al. 'Climate change effects on reference crop evapotranspiration across different climatic zones of China during 1956–2015'. In: *Journal of Hydrology* 542 (2016), pp. 923–937.
- [6] Elias Giannakis and Adriana Bruggeman. 'Regional disparities in economic resilience in the European Union across the urban–rural divide'. In: *Regional Studies* 54.9 (2020), pp. 1200–1213.
- [7] Richard P Allan et al. 'IPCC, 2021: summary for Policymakers'. In: (2021).
- [8] Simon J Brown. 'Future changes in heatwave severity, duration and frequency due to climate change for the most populous cities'. In: *Weather and Climate Extremes* 30 (2020), p. 100278.
- [9] Paul M Della-Marta et al. 'Summer heat waves over western Europe 1880–2003, their relationship to large-scale forcings and predictability'. In: *Climate Dynamics* 29 (2007), pp. 251–275.
- [10] Giorgia Di Capua et al. 'Drivers behind the summer 2010 wave train leading to Russian heatwave and Pakistan flooding'. In: *npj Climate and Atmospheric Science* 4.1 (2021), p. 55.

- [11] Angelo Rita et al. 'The impact of drought spells on forests depends on site conditions: The case of 2017 summer heat wave in southern Europe'. In: *Global change biology* 26.2 (2020), pp. 851–863.
- [12] Sandra Oliveira, Ana Gonçalves and José Lús Zêzere. 'Reassessing wildfire susceptibility and hazard for mainland Portugal'. In: *Science* of the total environment 762 (2021), p. 143121.
- [13] David Garc´n-León et al. 'Current and projected regional economic impacts of heatwaves in Europe'. In: *Nature communications* 12.1 (2021), p. 5807.
- [14] MO Molina, E Sánchez and C Gutiérrez. 'Future heat waves over the Mediterranean from an Euro-CORDEX regional climate model ensemble'. In: *Scientific reports* 10.1 (2020), p. 8801.
- [15] Antonio Sánchez-Benítez, David Barriopedro and Ricardo García-Herrera. 'Tracking Iberian heatwaves from a new perspective'. In: *Weather and Climate Extremes* 28 (2020), p. 100238.
- [16] Chloé Prodhomme et al. 'Seasonal prediction of European summer heatwaves'. In: *Climate Dynamics* (2021), pp. 1–18.
- [17] Ondřej Lhotka and Jan Kyselý. 'The 2021 European heat wave in the context of past major heat waves'. In: *Earth and Space Science* 9.11 (2022), e2022EA002567.
- [18] Jaak Jaagus et al. 'Long-term changes in drought indices in eastern and central Europe'. In: *International Journal of Climatology* 42.1 (2022), pp. 225–249.
- [19] Gustavo Naumann et al. 'Increased economic drought impacts in Europe with anthropogenic warming'. In: *Nature Climate Change* 11.6 (2021), pp. 485–491.
- [20] Edward A Byers et al. 'Drought and climate change impacts on cooling water shortages and electricity prices in Great Britain'. In: *Nature Communications* 11.1 (2020), p. 2239.
- [21] Matilde Garc´n-Valdecasas Ojeda et al. 'Projected changes in the Iberian Peninsula drought characteristics'. In: Science of the Total Environment 757 (2021), p. 143702.
- [22] Yusuke Satoh et al. 'The timing of unprecedented hydrological drought under climate change'. In: *Nature communications* 13.1 (2022), p. 3287.
- [23] Svenja Szemkus and Petra Friederichs. 'Spatial patterns and indices for heat waves and droughts over Europe using a decomposition of extremal dependency'. In: *Advances in Statistical Climatology, Meteorology and Oceanography* 10.1 (2024), pp. 29–49.
- [24] EM Fischer, Sebastian Sippel and Reto Knutti. 'Increasing probability of record-shattering climate extremes'. In: *Nature Climate Change* 11.8 (2021), pp. 689–695.

- [25] Alvaro Avila-Diaz et al. 'Assessing current and future trends of climate extremes across Brazil based on reanalyses and earth system model projections'. In: *Climate Dynamics* 55.5 (2020), pp. 1403–1426.
- [26] Jakob Zscheischler, Jana Sillmann and Lisa Alexander. *Introduction* to the special issue: compound weather and climate events. 2022.
- [27] Monica Crippa et al. 'Global anthropogenic emissions in urban areas: patterns, trends, and challenges'. In: *Environmental Research Letters* 16.7 (2021), p. 074033.
- [28] José A Marengo et al. 'Increased climate pressure on the agricultural frontier in the Eastern Amazonia–Cerrado transition zone'. In: *Scientific reports* 12.1 (2022), p. 457.
- [29] Qinqin Kong et al. 'Increases in summertime concurrent drought and heatwave in Eastern China'. In: *Weather and Climate Extremes* 28 (2020), p. 100242.
- [30] Yumiao Wang and Xing Yuan. 'Anthropogenic speeding up of South China flash droughts as exemplified by the 2019 Summer-Autumn transition season'. In: *Geophysical Research Letters* 48.9 (2021), e2020GL091901.
- [31] Shailza Sharma and Pradeep Mujumdar. 'Increasing frequency and spatial extent of concurrent meteorological droughts and heatwaves in India'. In: *Scientific reports* 7.1 (2017), p. 15582.
- [32] Sourav Mukherjee and Ashok Kumar Mishra. 'Increase in compound drought and heatwaves in a warming world'. In: *Geophysical Research Letters* 48.1 (2021), e2020GL090617.
- [33] Lei Ye et al. 'Compound droughts and heat waves in China'. In: *Sustainability* 11.12 (2019), p. 3270.
- [34] Sourav Mukherjee, Moetasim Ashfaq and Ashok Kumar Mishra. 'Compound drought and heatwaves at a global scale: The role of natural climate variability-associated synoptic patterns and landsurface energy budget anomalies'. In: *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres* 125.11 (2020), e2019JD031943.
- [35] Ryan S Padrón et al. 'Observed changes in dry-season water availability attributed to human-induced climate change'. In: *Nature Geoscience* 13.7 (2020), pp. 477–481.
- [36] Enrica De Cian, Elisa Lanzi and Roberto Roson. 'Seasonal temperature variations and energy demand: A panel cointegration analysis for climate change impact assessment'. In: *Climatic Change* 116 (2013), pp. 805–825.
- [37] Alexandre K Magnan et al. 'Estimating the global risk of anthropogenic climate change'. In: *Nature Climate Change* 11.10 (2021), pp. 879–885.

- [38] Srikanta Sannigrahi et al. 'Examining effects of climate change and land use dynamic on biophysical and economic values of ecosystem services of a natural reserve region'. In: *Journal of Cleaner Production* 257 (2020), p. 120424.
- [39] Andrew Harding, Jean Palutikof and Tom Holt. 'The climate system'. In: *The physical geography of the Mediterranean* (2009), pp. 69–88.
- [40] Kevin E Trenberth and John T Fasullo. 'Climate extremes and climate change: The Russian heat wave and other climate extremes of 2010'. In: *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres* 117.D17 (2012).
- [41] Samuel Jonson Sutanto et al. 'Heatwaves, droughts, and fires: Exploring compound and cascading dry hazards at the pan-European scale'. In: *Environment international* 134 (2020), p. 105276.
- [42] Diego G Miralles et al. 'Land-atmospheric feedbacks during droughts and heatwaves: state of the science and current challenges'. In: *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 1436.1 (2019), pp. 19–35.
- [43] AF Abdin, Y-P Fang and Enrico Zio. 'A modeling and optimization framework for power systems design with operational flexibility and resilience against extreme heat waves and drought events'. In: *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 112 (2019), pp. 706–719.
- [44] National Academies of Sciences et al. *Attribution of extreme weather events in the context of climate change*. National Academies Press, 2016.
- [45] Serge Planton et al. 'Expected impacts of climate change on extreme climate events'. In: *Comptes Rendus Geoscience* 340.9-10 (2008), pp. 564–574.
- [46] Samaneh Zormand, Reza Jafari and Saeed Soltani Koupaei. 'Assessment of PDI, MPDI and TVDI drought indices derived from MODIS Aqua/Terra Level 1B data in natural lands'. In: *Natural hazards* 86 (2017), pp. 757–777.
- [47] MP Akhtar, LB Roy and Abhishek Sinha. 'A comparative study on regional drought characterization using estimated drought indices in conjunction with trend analysis in peninsular India'. In: *Water resources in arid lands: Management and sustainability*. Springer. 2021, pp. 91–110.
- [48] Daniel L Swain et al. 'Attributing extreme events to climate change: A new frontier in a warming world'. In: *One Earth* 2.6 (2020), pp. 522–527.
- [49] George Luber and Michael McGeehin. 'Climate change and extreme heat events'. In: *American journal of preventive medicine* 35.5 (2008), pp. 429–435.

- [50] Andrea Pisano et al. 'New evidence of Mediterranean climate change and variability from sea surface temperature observations'. In: *Remote Sensing* 12.1 (2020), p. 132.
- [51] Kelvin O Yoro and Michael O Daramola. 'CO2 emission sources, greenhouse gases, and the global warming effect'. In: *Advances in carbon capture*. Elsevier, 2020, pp. 3–28.
- [52] Erwan Monier and Xiang Gao. 'Climate change impacts on extreme events in the United States: an uncertainty analysis'. In: *Climatic Change* 131 (2015), pp. 67–81.
- [53] Gabriel David Oreggioni et al. 'Climate change in a changing world: Socio-economic and technological transitions, regulatory frameworks and trends on global greenhouse gas emissions from EDGAR v. 5.0'. In: *Global Environmental Change* 70 (2021), p. 102350.
- [54] CD Evans et al. 'Overriding water table control on managed peatland greenhouse gas emissions'. In: *Nature* 593.7860 (2021), pp. 548–552.
- [55] Samer Fawzy et al. 'Strategies for mitigation of climate change: a review'. In: *Environmental Chemistry Letters* 18 (2020), pp. 2069–2094.
- [56] Jinfeng Chang et al. 'Climate warming from managed grasslands cancels the cooling effect of carbon sinks in sparsely grazed and natural grasslands'. In: *Nature Communications* 12.1 (2021), p. 118.
- [57] David M Konisky, Llewelyn Hughes and Charles H Kaylor. 'Extreme weather events and climate change concern'. In: *Climatic change* 134 (2016), pp. 533–547.
- [58] Chunzai Wang et al. 'El Niño and southern oscillation (ENSO): a review'. In: *Coral reefs of the eastern tropical Pacific: Persistence and loss in a dynamic environment* (2017), pp. 85–106.
- [59] Carlos Garcia-Soto et al. 'An overview of ocean climate change indicators: Sea surface temperature, ocean heat content, ocean pH, dissolved oxygen concentration, arctic sea ice extent, thickness and volume, sea level and strength of the AMOC (Atlantic Meridional Overturning Circulation)'. In: *Frontiers in Marine Science* 8 (2021), p. 642372.
- [60] Teresa J Parker et al. 'Modes of climate variability and heat waves in Victoria, southeastern Australia'. In: *Geophysical Research Letters* 41.19 (2014), pp. 6926–6934.
- [61] ATD Perera et al. 'Quantifying the impacts of climate change and extreme climate events on energy systems'. In: *Nature Energy* 5.2 (2020), pp. 150–159.
- [62] Stephanie C Herring et al. 'Explaining extreme events of 2014 from a climate perspective'. In: Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 96.12 (2015), S1–S172.

- [63] Johanna Wolf et al. 'Social capital, individual responses to heat waves and climate change adaptation: An empirical study of two UK cities'. In: *Global Environmental Change* 20.1 (2010), pp. 44–52.
- [64] Ondřej Lhotka, Jan Kyselý and Aleš Farda. 'Climate change scenarios of heat waves in Central Europe and their uncertainties'. In: *Theoretical and applied climatology* 131.3 (2018), pp. 1043–1054.
- [65] Stefan Zacharias, Christina Koppe and Hans-Guido Mücke. 'Climate change effects on heat waves and future heat wave-associated IHD mortality in Germany'. In: *Climate* 3.1 (2014), pp. 100–117.
- [66] Tiffany T Smith, Benjamin F Zaitchik and Julia M Gohlke. 'Heat waves in the United States: definitions, patterns and trends'. In: *Climatic change* 118 (2013), pp. 811–825.
- [67] Ricardo Machado Trigo et al. 'How exceptional was the early August 2003 heatwave in France?' In: *Geophysical research letters* 32.10 (2005).
- [68] Detlef P Van Vuuren et al. 'The representative concentration pathways: an overview'. In: *Climatic change* 109 (2011), pp. 5–31.
- [69] Glynn C Hulley, Benedicte Dousset and Brian H Kahn. 'Rising trends in heatwave metrics across southern California'. In: *Earth's Future* 8.7 (2020), e2020EF001480.
- [70] Jianyong Wu et al. 'Estimation and uncertainty analysis of impacts of future heat waves on mortality in the eastern United States'. In: *Environmental health perspectives* 122.1 (2014), pp. 10–16.
- [71] F Simón et al. 'Mortality in Spain during the heat waves of summer 2003'. In: *Eurosurveillance* 10.7 (2005), pp. 9–10.
- [72] PJ Nogueira et al. 'Mortality in Portugal associated with the heat wave of August 2003: early estimation of effect, using a rapid method'. In: *Eurosurveillance* 10.7 (2005), pp. 5–6.
- [73] Susana Cardoso Pereira et al. 'Heat wave and cold spell changes in Iberia for a future climate scenario'. In: *International Journal of Climatology* 37.15 (2017), pp. 5192–5205.
- [74] Rachel ES Clemesha et al. 'California heat waves: Their spatial evolution, variation, and coastal modulation by low clouds'. In: *Climate Dynamics* 50 (2018), pp. 4285–4301.
- [75] G Brooke Anderson et al. 'Classifying heatwaves: developing health-based models to predict high-mortality versus moderate United States heatwaves'. In: *Climatic change* 146 (2018), pp. 439– 453.
- [76] Sarah Feron et al. 'Observations and projections of heat waves in South America'. In: *Scientific reports* 9.1 (2019), p. 8173.
- [77] Simone Russo et al. 'When will unusual heat waves become normal in a warming Africa?' In: *Environmental Research Letters* 11.5 (2016), p. 054016.

- [78] Brigitte Mueller and Sonia I Seneviratne. 'Hot days induced by precipitation deficits at the global scale'. In: *Proceedings of the national* academy of sciences 109.31 (2012), pp. 12398–12403.
- [79] Ana Bastos et al. 'Direct and seasonal legacy effects of the 2018 heat wave and drought on European ecosystem productivity'. In: *Science advances* 6.24 (2020), eaba2724.
- [80] Hans-O Pörtner et al. *Climate change 2022: Impacts, adaptation and vulnerability*. IPCC Geneva, Switzerland: 2022.
- [81] Gebremedhin Gebremeskel Haile et al. 'Drought: Progress in broadening its understanding'. In: Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Water 7.2 (2020), e1407.
- [82] Emma Gaitán et al. 'Impact of climate change on drought in Aragon (NE Spain)'. In: *Science of the total environment* 740 (2020), p. 140094.
- [83] Yannis Markonis et al. 'The rise of compound warm-season droughts in Europe'. In: *Science Advances* 7.6 (2021), eabb9668.
- [84] David S Gutzler and Tessia O Robbins. 'Climate variability and projected change in the western United States: regional downscaling and drought statistics'. In: *Climate Dynamics* 37 (2011), pp. 835–849.
- [85] Steven A Margulis et al. 'Characterizing the extreme 2015 snowpack deficit in the Sierra Nevada (USA) and the implications for drought recovery'. In: *Geophysical Research Letters* 43.12 (2016), pp. 6341–6349.
- [86] Sarah Byer and Yufang Jin. 'Detecting drought-induced tree mortality in Sierra Nevada forests with time series of satellite data'. In: *Remote Sensing* 9.9 (2017), p. 929.
- [87] Xing Yuan et al. 'A global transition to flash droughts under climate change'. In: *Science* 380.6641 (2023), pp. 187–191.
- [88] Christine M Albano et al. 'Drought sensitivity and trends of riparian vegetation vigor in Nevada, USA (1985–2018)'. In: *Remote Sensing* 12.9 (2020), p. 1362.
- [89] Benjamin I Cook, Justin S Mankin and Kevin J Anchukaitis. 'Climate change and drought: From past to future'. In: *Current Climate Change Reports* 4 (2018), pp. 164–179.
- [90] Josep G Canadell et al. 'Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). Global carbon and other biogeochemical cycles and feedbacks'. In: *Climate change 2021: The physical science basis. Contribution of working group I to the sixth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change.* Cambridge University Press, 2023, pp. 673–816.
- [91] Suraje Dessai and Catherine Sims. 'Public perception of drought and climate change in southeast England'. In: *Environmental hazards* 9.4 (2010), pp. 340–357.
- [92] J Stuart Carlton et al. 'The effects of extreme drought on climate change beliefs, risk perceptions, and adaptation attitudes'. In: *Climatic change* 135 (2016), pp. 211–226.

- [93] CA Craig, S Feng and S Gilbertz. 'Water crisis, drought, and climate change in the southeast United States'. In: *Land use policy* 88 (2019), p. 104110.
- [94] Dimitris Tigkas, Harris Vangelis and George Tsakiris. 'Drought and climatic change impact on streamflow in small watersheds'. In: *Science of the Total Environment* 440 (2012), pp. 33–41.
- [95] William F Laurance and G Bruce Williamson. 'Positive feedbacks among forest fragmentation, drought, and climate change in the Amazon'. In: *Conservation biology* 15.6 (2001), pp. 1529–1535.
- [96] Kenneth Strzepek et al. 'Characterizing changes in drought risk for the United States from climate change'. In: *Environmental Research Letters* 5.4 (2010), p. 044012.
- [97] Martin Dubrovsky et al. 'Application of relative drought indices in assessing climate-change impacts on drought conditions in Czechia'. In: *Theoretical and Applied Climatology* 96 (2009), pp. 155– 171.
- [98] Furat AM Al-Faraj, Miklas Scholz and Dimitris Tigkas. 'Sensitivity of surface runoff to drought and climate change: Application for shared river basins'. In: *Water* 6.10 (2014), pp. 3033–3048.
- [99] Álvaro-Francisco Morote, Jorge Olcina and María Hernández. 'The use of non-conventional water resources as a means of adaptation to drought and climate change in semi-arid regions: South-Eastern Spain'. In: Water 11.1 (2019), p. 93.
- [100] Kumar Puran Tripathy and Ashok Kumar Mishra. 'How unusual is the 2022 European compound drought and heatwave event?' In: *Geophysical Research Letters* 50.15 (2023), e2023GL105453.
- [101] Aiguo Dai, Tianbao Zhao and Jiao Chen. 'Climate change and drought: a precipitation and evaporation perspective'. In: *Current Climate Change Reports* 4 (2018), pp. 301–312.
- [102] Jakob Zscheischler et al. 'Future climate risk from compound events'. In: *Nature Climate Change* 8.6 (2018), pp. 469–477.
- [103] Sourav Mukherjee et al. 'Interaction between dry and hot extremes at a global scale using a cascade modeling framework'. In: *Nature Communications* 14.1 (2023), p. 277.
- [104] Joao L Geirinhas et al. 'Recent increasing frequency of compound summer drought and heatwaves in Southeast Brazil'. In: *Environmental Research Letters* 16.3 (2021), p. 034036.
- [105] Renata Libonati et al. 'Assessing the role of compound drought and heatwave events on unprecedented 2020 wildfires in the Pantanal'. In: *Environmental Research Letters* 17.1 (2022), p. 015005.
- [106] Sourav Mukherjee et al. 'Relative effect of anthropogenic warming and natural climate variability to changes in Compound drought and heatwaves'. In: *Journal of Hydrology* 605 (2022), p. 127396.

- [107] Chuan Wang et al. 'Increased compound droughts and heatwaves in a double pack in Central Asia'. In: *Remote Sensing* 14.13 (2022), p. 2959.
- [108] Yan He et al. 'Substantial increase of compound droughts and heatwaves in wheat growing seasons worldwide'. In: *International Journal of Climatology* 42.10 (2022), pp. 5038–5054.
- [109] Zitong Shi et al. 'Amplified intensity and duration of heatwaves by concurrent droughts in China'. In: *Atmospheric Research* 261 (2021), p. 105743.
- [110] Nicolas Gruber et al. 'Biogeochemical extremes and compound events in the ocean'. In: *Nature* 600.7889 (2021), pp. 395–407.
- [111] Jakob Zscheischler et al. 'A typology of compound weather and climate events'. In: *Nature reviews earth & environment* 1.7 (2020), pp. 333–347.
- [112] Maud Chassignol et al. 'Artificial Intelligence trends in education: a narrative overview'. In: *Procedia Computer Science* 136 (2018), pp. 16– 24.
- [113] Georg Von Krogh. 'Artificial intelligence in organizations: New opportunities for phenomenon-based theorizing'. In: *Academy of Management Discoveries* (2018).
- [114] Pankaj Dutta et al. 'Blockchain technology in supply chain operations: Applications, challenges and research opportunities'. In: *Transportation research part e: Logistics and transportation review* 142 (2020), p. 102067.
- [115] Stanislas Dehaene, Hakwan Lau and Sid Kouider. 'What is consciousness, and could machines have it?' In: *Robotics, AI, and Humanity: Science, Ethics, and Policy* (2021), pp. 43–56.
- [116] Robert Mendelsohn. 'The economics of adaptation to climate change in developing countries'. In: *Climate Change Economics* 3.02 (2012), p. 1250006.
- [117] Sancho Salcedo-Sanz et al. 'Machine learning information fusion in Earth observation: A comprehensive review of methods, applications and data sources'. In: *Information Fusion* 63 (2020), pp. 256– 272.
- [118] Holger Hermanns and Holger Hermanns. *Markov Chains*. Springer, 2002.
- [119] David JC MacKay. *Information theory, inference and learning algorithms*. Cambridge university press, 2003.
- [120] P De Luca et al. Compound warm–dry and cold–wet events over the Mediterranean, Earth Syst. Dynam., 11, 793–805. 2020.
- [121] E Bevacqua et al. *Guidelines for studying diverse types of compound weather and climate events, Earth's Future, 9, e2021EF002340. 2021.*

- [122] Huiqian Yu et al. 'Hotspots, co-occurrence, and shifts of compound and cascading extreme climate events in Eurasian drylands'. In: *Environment International* 169 (2022), p. 107509.
- [123] Mohammad Reza Alizadeh et al. 'A century of observations reveals increasing likelihood of continental-scale compound dry-hot extremes'. In: *Science advances* 6.39 (2020), eaaz4571.
- [124] Ana Russo et al. 'The synergy between drought and extremely hot summers in the Mediterranean'. In: *Environmental Research Letters* 14.1 (2019), p. 014011.
- [125] Andreia FS Ribeiro et al. 'Drought-related hot summers: A joint probability analysis in the Iberian Peninsula'. In: *Weather and Climate Extremes* 30 (2020), p. 100279.
- [126] Zhixin Zhang et al. 'Modelling the potential impacts of climate change on the distribution of ichthyoplankton in the Yangtze Estuary, China'. In: *Diversity and Distributions* 26.1 (2020), pp. 126–137.
- [127] Amir AghaKouchak et al. 'Remote sensing of drought: Progress, challenges and opportunities'. In: *Reviews of Geophysics* 53.2 (2015), pp. 452–480.
- [128] Susana Cardoso Pereira et al. 'Extreme precipitation events under climate change in the Iberian Peninsula'. In: *International Journal of Climatology* 40.2 (2020), pp. 1255–1278.
- [129] Susana Barbosa and Manuel G Scotto. 'Extreme heat events in the Iberia Peninsula from extreme value mixture modeling of ERA5-Land air temperature'. In: *Weather and Climate Extremes* 36 (2022), p. 100448.
- [130] Alexandre Tuel et al. 'Large-Scale Drivers of Persistent Extreme Weather During Early Summer 2021 in Europe'. In: *Geophysical Research Letters* 49.18 (2022), e2022GL099624.
- [131] Zengchao Hao et al. 'Compound droughts and hot extremes: Characteristics, drivers, changes, and impacts'. In: *Earth-Science Reviews* (2022), p. 104241.
- [132] Ali Danandeh Mehr et al. 'A novel intelligent deep learning predictive model for meteorological drought forecasting'. In: *Journal of Ambient Intelligence and Humanized Computing* 14.8 (2023), pp. 10441– 10455.
- [133] Mohammed A Alshahrani et al. 'A support vector machine based drought index for regional drought analysis'. In: *Scientific Reports* 14.1 (2024), p. 9849.
- [134] Hsin-Fu Yeh and Hsin-Li Hsu. 'Using the Markov chain to analyze precipitation and groundwater drought characteristics and linkage with atmospheric circulation'. In: *Sustainability* 6 (2019), p. 1817.

- [135] Wentao Yang et al. 'On the use of Markov chain models for drought class transition analysis while considering spatial effects'. In: *Natural Hazards* 103 (2020), pp. 2945–2959.
- [136] ATM Jahangir Alam, M Sayedur Rahman and AHM Sadaat. 'Markov chain analysis of weekly rainfall data for predicting agricultural drought'. In: *Computational intelligence techniques in earth and environmental sciences* (2014), pp. 109–128.
- [137] Ji-Young Yoo et al. 'Probabilistic assessment of drought characteristics based on homogeneous hidden markov model'. In: KSCE Journal of Civil and Environmental Engineering Research 34.1 (2014), pp. 145– 153.
- [138] Pan Yang and Tze Ling Ng. 'Quantifying uncertainty in multivariate quantile estimation of hydrometeorological extremes via copula: A comparison between bootstrapping and Markov chain Monte Carlo'. In: *International Journal of Climatology* 42.9 (2022), pp. 4621– 4638.
- [139] Assaf Hochman et al. 'A new view of heat wave dynamics and predictability over the eastern Mediterranean'. In: *Earth System Dynamics* 12.1 (2021), pp. 133–149.
- [140] Junjun Cao et al. 'Multiple Markov Chains for Categorial Drought Prediction on the US Drought Monitor at Weekly Scale'. In: *Journal* of Applied Meteorology and Climatology 62.10 (2023), pp. 1415–1435.
- [141] Mahnaz Afroz, Gang Chen and Aavudai Anandhi. 'Drought-and heatwave-associated compound extremes: A review of hotspots, variables, parameters, drivers, impacts, and analysis frameworks'. In: *Frontiers in Earth Science* 10 (2023), p. 914437.
- [142] Safieh Javadinejad et al. 'Analysis and forecasting drought characterisation with using Markov chain model'. In: *Safety in Extreme Environments* 5.3 (2023), pp. 149–159.
- [143] Leonardo N Ferreira et al. 'The effect of time series distance functions on functional climate networks'. In: *The European Physical Journal Special Topics* 230 (2021), pp. 2973–2998.
- [144] Yogender Aggarwal et al. 'Mechanistic electronic model to simulate and predict the effect of heat stress on the functional genomics of HO-1 system: Vasodilation'. In: *Computers in Biology and Medicine* 40.5 (2010), pp. 533–542.
- [145] Guillaume Pirot et al. 'loopUI-0.1: uncertainty indicators to support needs and practices in 3D geological modelling uncertainty quantification'. In: *Geoscientific Model Development Discussions* 2022 (2022), pp. 1–31.
- [146] Baudouin Raoult et al. 'Fast retrieval of weather analogues in a multi-petabytes archive using wavelet-based fingerprints'. In: *International Conference on Computational Science*. Springer. 2018, pp. 697–710.

- [147] Ikechukwu Kalu et al. 'An assimilated deep learning approach to identify the influence of global climate on hydrological fluxes'. In: *Journal of Hydrology* 614 (2022), p. 128498.
- [148] Tassio Brito de Oliveira et al. 'Fungal communities differentially respond to warming and drought in tropical grassland soil'. In: *Molecular Ecology* 29.8 (2020), pp. 1550–1559.
- [149] Ma Jianqin, Zhang Zhenwei and Wei Rui. 'Development and Application of Comprehensive Drought Evaluation Model for Irrigation District in North China'. In: Applied Engineering, Materials and Mechanics: Proceedings of the 2016 International Conference on Applied Engineering, Materials and Mechanics (ICAEMM 2016). World Scientific. 2016, pp. 330–336.
- [150] Viktoria Unger et al. 'Congruent changes in microbial community dynamics and ecosystem methane fluxes following natural drought in two restored fens'. In: *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 160 (2021), p. 108348.
- [151] Fatima Karbou et al. 'Monitoring wet snow over an alpine region using sentinel-1 observations'. In: *Remote Sensing* 13.3 (2021), p. 381.
- [152] Werner Marx, Robin Haunschild and Lutz Bornmann. 'Heat waves: a hot topic in climate change research'. In: *Theoretical and applied climatology* 146.1-2 (2021), pp. 781–800.
- [153] Alistair J Hobday et al. 'A hierarchical approach to defining marine heatwaves'. In: *Progress in Oceanography* 141 (2016), pp. 227–238.
- [154] Jane Wilson Baldwin et al. 'Temporally compound heat wave events and global warming: An emerging hazard'. In: *Earth's Future* 7.4 (2019), pp. 411–427.
- [155] Bill Bell et al. 'The ERA5 global reanalysis: Preliminary extension to 1950'. In: *Quarterly Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society* 147.741 (2021), pp. 4186–4227.
- [156] Peyman Mahmoudi, Allahbakhsh Rigi and Mahdiye Miri Kamak. 'Evaluating the sensitivity of precipitation-based drought indices to different lengths of record'. In: *Journal of Hydrology* 579 (2019), p. 124181.
- [157] Hong Wu et al. 'The effect of the length of record on the standardized precipitation index calculation'. In: *International Journal of Climatology: A Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society* 25.4 (2005), pp. 505–520.